Glenn Hegar

Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts

Texas Property Tax Law Changes

as of July 2023

Property Tax Bills: 88th Texas Legislature

This publication includes highlights of legislation relating to property tax passed during the 88th Regular Session. The highlights are general summaries and do not reflect the exact or complete text of the legislation. Not all legislation impacting property tax is addressed. Please be advised that this information is being provided solely as an informational resource. The information provided is not intended for use in lieu of, or as a substitute for, the legislation referenced herein and should not be relied upon as such. Additionally, the information provided neither constitutes nor serves as a substitute for legal advice. Questions regarding the meaning or interpretation of any information included or referenced in this publication should, as appropriate or necessary, be directed to an attorney or other appropriate counsel.

The Legislature enacted HB 4504 and HB 4595, which amend numerous codes, including code sections contained in this publication. The new laws make non-substantive additions to, revisions of, and corrections to enacted codes, make non-substantive codifications or disposition of various laws omitted from enacted codes and conform codifications during the preceding legislative session. The Legislature also enacted laws impacting specific special districts that impose a property tax; these bills, HB 4505 and HB 4595 are not included in this publication.

HB 4559 makes updates to population requirements where needed throughout several sections of code, in order to align with the 2020 U.S. Census increases in population, to accurately apply to bracketed political subdivisions. Changes to applicable sections of the Tax Code are included in this publication.

Governor Greg Abbott vetoed the following property tax-related bills:

- HB 4158, Relating to the determination and reporting of the number of residence homesteads of elderly and disabled persons that are subject to the limitation on the total amount of ad valorem taxes that may be imposed on the properties by school districts.
- SB 348, Relating to the prohibition on posting on the Internet information held by an appraisal district regarding certain residential property.
- SB 361, Relating to the eligibility of a person employed by a school district as a teacher to serve on the appraisal review board of an appraisal district.
- SB 1367, Relating to the confidentiality of certain information for employees of a county courthouse of the Office of Court Administration of the Texas Judicial System and the employees' family members.
- SB 1431, Relating to the confidentiality of certain information for a current or former administrative law judge for the State Office of Administrative Hearings.
- SB 1439, Relating to the ad valorem taxation of tangible personal property held or used for the production of income by related business entities.
- SB 1916, Relating to publication of public improvement district service plans and assessments on certain public Internet websites.
- SB 1979, Relating to an annual study by Texas A&M University Texas Real Estate Research Center of the purchase and sale of single-family homes by certain institutional buyers.
- SB 1998, Relating to the calculation of certain ad valorem tax rates.

The following acronyms are used in this document:

2nd CS Second Called Session

Regular Session RS

House Bill HB

House Joint Resolution HJR

Senate Bill SB

Senate Joint Resolution SJR

The Property Tax Assistance Division at the Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts provides property tax information and resources for taxpayers, local taxing entities, assessor-collectors, appraisal districts, and appraisal review boards.

For more information, visit our website or call us toll-free at 1-800-252-9121 (press 3). In Austin, call 512-305-9999.



Sign up to receive email updates on the Comptroller topics of your choice at comptroller.texas.gov/subscribe.

Table of Contents

Tax Code	1
Chapter 1. General Provisions	1
Chapter 5. State Administration	2
Chapter 6. Local Administration	2
Chapter 11. Taxable Property and Exemptions	5
Chapter 22. Taxable Situs	7
Chapter 23. Appraisal Methods and Procedures	8
Chapter 25. Local Appraisal	9
Chapter 26. Assessment	10
Chapter 31. Collections	12
Chapter 32. Tax Liens and Personal Liability	13
Chapter 33. Delinquency	13
Chapter 34. Tax Sales and Redemption	13
Chapter 41. Local Review	14
Chapter 41A. Appeal Through Binding Arbitration	15
Chapter 42. Judicial Review	16
Chapter 312. Property Redevelopment and Tax Abatement Act	17
Agriculture Code	17
Civil Practices and Remedies Code	17
Code of Criminal Procedures	17
Education Code	17
Government Code	19
Labor Code	25
Local Government Code	25
Occupations Code	28
Property Code	30
Special District Local Laws Code	31
Water Code	31
Session Law	35
Texas Constitution	36



Tax Code

Chapter 1. General Provisions

Section 1.07

HB 1228 amends subsection (a), related to the requirement that delivery of a notice to a property owner be made by regular first-class mail, with postage prepaid, unless another provision requires or authorizes a different method of delivery, to strike language related to agreements for electronic delivery under Tax Code Section 1.085 and Section 1.086, which is repealed by the bill.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024.

Section 1.085

HB 1228 amends subsection (a) to define "communication" to mean a notice, rendition, application form, completed application, report, filing, statement, appraisal review board order, tax bill, or other item of information required or permitted to be delivered, and "tax official" to mean a chief appraiser, an appraisal district, an appraisal review board, an assessor, a collector, or a taxing unit, or a person designated by a listed person to perform a function on the behalf of that person. Redesignates subsection (a) as subsection (a-1) to require a communication that is required or permitted to be delivered between a tax official and a property owner or an owner's agent be delivered electronically if the property owner or owner's agent elects to exchange communications with the tax official electronically.

The bill adds subsection (a-2) to require a tax official to establish a procedure that allows a property owner or owner's agent to elect to exchange communications with the tax official electronically. The tax official must specify the manner in which the communications will be exchanged and the method that will be used to confirm the delivery of communications. Adds subsection (a-3) to provide that the election must be made in writing on a form prescribed by the Comptroller and remains in effect until rescinded in writing by the property owner or owner's agent.

Adds subsection (a-4) to prohibit a tax official from charging a fee to accept an electronically delivered communication. Adds subsection (a-5) to authorize a tax official to require a property owner or owner's agent to provide an email address and other information necessary to exchange communications electronically. Adds subsection (a-6) to require a

tax official to prominently display information necessary for property electronic delivery of communication to the tax official on the official's Internet website and, if the official is a chief appraiser, in any notice of appraised value delivered under Tax Code Section 25.19.

Amends subsection (d) to provide that the electronic delivery of any communication by a tax official to a property owner or owner's agent is effective on delivery by the tax official. Adds subsection (d-1) to provide that the electronic delivery of a communication by a property owner or owner's agent to a tax official is timely if the communication is addressed to the correct delivery portal or electronic delivery system and received by the tax official's server on or before the date the communication is due.

Amends subsection (e) to require the Comptroller to adopt guidelines for the implementation of this section by tax officials; makes conforming changes. The bill makes conforming changes to subsections (f), (i) and (l) related to the election to exchange communications electronically. Adds subsection (n) to require a tax official to acknowledge receipt of a communication delivered electronically by a property owner or owner's agent.

The bill repeals the following provisions:

- Subsection (b) requiring an agreement between a chief appraiser and a property owner to be in writing or electronic form;
- Subsection (c) allowing an agreement to address other matters;
- Subsection (g) requiring a chief appraiser to enter into an agreement with a property owner having more than 25 accounts, in a county over 200,000 in population;
- Subsection (h) requiring a chief appraiser to publish notice authorizing electronic communication in the newspaper;
- Subsection (k) prohibiting a decision by a chief appraiser to not to enter into an agreement from being reviewed by the appraisal review board;
- Subsection (l) requiring postal mail delivery when confirmation of electronic delivery of a notice is not confirmed within 30 days; and,
- Subsection (m) stating a property owner need not enter into an agreement to be entitled to electronic delivery of a protest hearing.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024. A tax official of an appraisal district established in a county with a population of 120,000 or more or of a taxing unit located wholly or primarily in such an appraisal district is required to comply with the amendments to this section beginning with the 2024 tax year. A tax official located in a county other than one described above is required to comply with the amendments to this section beginning with the 2025 tax year.

Section 1.086

HB 1228 repeals this section related to delivery of certain notices by email.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024.

Section 1.12

SB 2 (2nd CS) amends this section to make conforming changes with the addition of Tax Code Section 23.231.

Effective on the date of the official canvas showing adoption of HJR 2 (2nd CS), and contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

SB 2 (2nd CS) amends this section to remove references to Tax Code Section 23.231.

Effective Jan. 1, 2027, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Chapter 5. State Administration

Section 5.06

HB 1285 amends this section to require the Comptroller to include a description of the functions of a taxpayer liaison officer appointed under Tax Code Section 6.052, for an appraisal district with a population of more than 120,000, in the taxpayer assistance pamphlet formerly called the taxpayer remedies pamphlet.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024.

Section 5.07

HB 4456 amends subsection (f) by striking the provision that the tax rate calculation forms prescribed by the Comptroller for school districts require submission of the rate to maintain the same amount of state and local revenue per weighted student.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to a tax year that begins on or after the effective date.

Chapter 6. Local Administration

Section 6.03

SB 2 (2nd CS) amends the title of this section to read "Board of Directors in Less Populous Counties." Redesignates subsection (a) as subsection (a-1) and adds new subsection (a) to provide that this section only applies to an appraisal district established in a county with a population of less than 75,0000.

Effective July 1, 2024, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Section 6.0301

SB 2 (2nd CS) adds this section related to the board of directors in populous counties. Provides that this section only applies to an appraisal district established in a county with a population of 75,000 or more. Tax Code Sections 6.031, related to changes in board membership or selection, 6.034, related to organization, meetings, and compensation of the board of directors, and 6.10, related to disapproval of board actions, do not apply to an appraisal district to which this section applies.

Provides that an appraisal district subject to this section is governed by a board of nine directors. Five directors are appointed by the taxing units participating in the district as prescribed by Tax Code Section 6.03. Three directors are elected by a majority vote at the general election for state and county officers. The county assessor-collector serves as an ex officio director. To be eligible to serve on the board of directors, an individual must be a resident of the district and must have resided I the district for at least two years immediately preceding the date the individual takes office. A person is not ineligible because they serve on the governing body of a taxing unit. An employee of a taxing unit is not eligible to serve on the board unless the individual is also a member of the governing body or an elected official of a taxing unit. Members of the board of directors that are appointed by the taxing unit serve staggered four-year terms beginning on January 1 of every other even-numbered year. Elected members serve staggered four-year terms beginning on January 1 of every other odd-numbered year. A vacancy created in an appointed position is replaced in the same manner as provided by Tax Code Section 6.03. A vacancy created in an elected position is filled by majority vote of the board of directors. A person appointed to fill a vacancy in an elected position must meet the qualifications required of a director elected at a general election.

Effective July 1, 2024, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Section 6.032

SB 2 (2nd CS) adds this section to provide for the ballot procedures for elected directors. Election Code Chapter 144 applies to candidates for an elective position on an appraisal district board of directors, unless otherwise provided by this section.

An application for a place on the ballot must be filed with the county judge of the county in which the appraisal district is established and be accompanied by a filing fee or a petition in lieu of the filing fee.

The filing fee for a place on the ballot is \$400 for a county with a population of 200,000 or more, or \$200 for a county with a population of less than 200,000. A petition in lieu of the filing fee must meet the requirements of Election Code Section 141.062 and include 500 valid signatures or two percent of the total vote received in the county by all the candidates for governor in the most recent gubernatorial general election, whichever is less. If two percent of the total vote received in the county by all the candidates for governor in the most recent gubernatorial election is less than 50, the minimum number of signatures required is 50 or 20 percent of that total vote, whichever is less. A filing fee is required to be deposited in the county treasury to the credit of the county general fund. Requires the Secretary of State to adopt rules as necessary to implement this section.

Effective Oct. 12, 2023, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Section 6.033

SB 2 (2nd CS) amends subsection (a) to provide that recall provisions for members of the board of directors of the appraisal district apply only to those members who are appointed by taxing units participating in the district.

Effective July 1, 2024, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Section 6.036

SB 2 (2nd CS) amends subsection (a) to add a candidate for the board of directors to existing eligibility provisions.

Effective July 1, 2024, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Section 6.052

HB 1285 amends subsection (a) to provide that the board of directors of an appraisal district in a county with a population of 120,000 or more may appoint one or more deputy taxpayer liaison officers to assist the taxpayer liaison officer in the performance of the officer's duties. The bill specifies that the taxpayer liaison officer is the appraisal district officer primarily responsible for providing assistance to taxpayers for the district. Amends subsection (b) to expand the responsibilities of the taxpayer liaison officer to include providing assistance on how to file a complaint under Tax Code Section 41.66(q), related to filing a complaint regarding the conduct of the appraisal review board, and how to request limited binding arbitration under Tax Code Section 41A.015.

Adds subsection (b-2) to allow a property owner to file a written complaint with the taxpayer liaison officer requesting resolution of a dispute with the appraisal district or appraisal review board on matters that do not relate to the appraisal of property. The taxpayer liaison officer may resolve a complaint filed with the officer or with the board of directors of the appraisal district by:

- referring the property owner to information and materials or to the appropriate employee or officer of the appraisal district or appraisal review board;
- meeting with the parties to the dispute that is the subject of the complaint to facilitate an informal resolution;
- treating the matter as a complaint under Tax Code Section 41.66(q), as appropriate;
- assisting the property owner in filing a request for limited binding arbitration under Tax Code Section 41A.015; or.
- recommending in writing to the chief appraiser, board
 of directors, chairman of the appraisal review board or
 the property owner or owner's agent a course of action
 that the taxpayer liaison officer believes is appropriate.

Adds subsection (b-3) to authorize the taxpayer liaison officer to dismiss any part of a complaint that relates to the appraised value of a property, or the appraisal methodology used in appraising the property, and dismiss a complaint that is repetitive or that fails to state a legitimate concern. Adds subsection (b-4) to require the taxpayer liaison officer to refer complaints related to the assessment or collection of a tax to the appropriate person who can assist the property owner with the matter. Adds subsection (b-5) to require the taxpayer liaison officer to notify a property owner of the resolution of the complaint not later than the 90th day after the complaint was filed. Adds subsection (b-6) to provide that the resolution of a complaint is not an action the property owner is entitled to protest, request limited binding arbitration for under Tax Code Section 41A.015, or appeal to district court under Chapter 42.

Adds subsection (b-7) to require the Comptroller to develop and supervise a program for the training and education of taxpayer liaison officers and deputy taxpayer liaison officers. The program may be provided online, must be at least two hours in length, is required to include information on the duties and responsibilities of a taxpayer liaison officer and a deputy taxpayer liaison officer, including procedures for the informal resolution of disputes, and provide a certificate of completion. Adds subsection (b-8) to require the taxpayer liaison officer and deputy taxpayer liaison officer to complete the training for taxpayer liaison officers and the training required for new and continuing appraisal review board members not later than the first anniversary of the date the officer is appointed every even-numbered year thereafter. A person may not serve as a taxpayer liaison officer or deputy taxpayer liaison officer unless the person has completed the training programs.

Adds subsection (b-9) to require a taxpayer liaison officer and deputy taxpayer liaison officer to submit a copy of the certificate of completion for the taxpayer liaison officer training to the board of directors of the appraisal district. The taxpayer liaison officer and deputy taxpayer liaison officer are required to retain a copy of the certificate for at least three years, and the board of directors is required to retain the certificate for the same period.

Amends subsections (d) and (e) to make conforming changes related to the deputy taxpayer liaison officer regarding the entitlement to compensation and restrictions against persons who perform appraisal or legal services for the appraisal district from serving as the deputy taxpayer liaison officer.

Amends subsection (f) to provide that the taxpayer liaison officer is responsible for publicizing the availability of positions on the appraisal review board. Amends subsection (g) to make conforming changes related to the deputy taxpayer liaison officer regarding the ability to communicate with

certain individuals in the exercise of the officer's duties without committing the offense of ex parte communications.

Adds subsection (h) to require the chief appraiser to post on the Internet website of the appraisal district the name, contact information, and description of the duties of the taxpayer liaison officer. A link to this information must be prominently posted on the home page of the Internet website.

Adds subsection (i) to require the appraisal district board of directors to annually evaluate the performance of the tax-payer liaison officer and each deputy taxpayer liaison officer, including a review of the timeliness of the officer's resolution of complaints.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024. A person serving as a taxpayer liaison officer on Jan. 1, 2024, must complete the training requirements and courses under Section 6.052(b-8) not later than Dec. 31, 2024.

Section 6.052, as effective Jan. 1, 2024

SB 2 (2nd CS) amends subsection (f) to provide that the taxpayer liaison officer is responsible for providing clerical assistance to the applicable appointing authority, rather than the local administrative district judge, in the selection of appraisal review board members.

Effective July 1, 2024, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Section 6.12

HB 3207 amends subsection (b) to remove the requirement that members of the agriculture advisory board be residents of the district for at least five years.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Section 6.41

HB 4559 amends subsection (b-2) to increase the population bracket from 1 million to 1.2 million for counties within which an appraisal district board of directors is required by resolution to increase the number of appraisal review board members.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

SB 2 (2nd CS) amends subsection (d) to provide that members of the appraisal review board in populous counties are appointed by the board of directors of the appraisal district, rather than by the local administrative district judge.

Members of the appraisal review board in less populous counties continue to be appointed by the local administrative district judge. Amends subsections (d-1), (d-2), (d-3), (d-5), (d-9), (d-10), (e), (g), (i), and (j) to make conforming changes related to the appointment of appraisal review board members by the applicable appointing authority.

Adds subsection (d-2-1) to require appointments made by the board of directors to the appraisal review board be made by majority vote. Requires that at least two members of the majority vote be publicly elected members of the board of directors.

Effective July 1, 2024, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Section 6.41, as amended by HB 2941 and SB 63, 87th RS

SB 2 (2nd CS) reenacts and amends subsection (f) to make conforming changes related to the removal of appraisal review board members by the applicable appointing authority.

Effective July 1, 2024, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Section 6.42

SB 2 (2nd CS) amends subsection (a) to make conforming changes related to the appointment of the appraisal review board chairman and secretary by the applicable appointing authority.

Effective July 1, 2024, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Section 6.425

SB 2 (2nd CS) amends subsection (e) to make conforming changes related to the appointment of appraisal review board members.

Effective July 1, 2024, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Chapter 11. Taxable Property and Exemptions

Section 11.13

SB 2 (2nd CS) amends subsection (b) to provide for an increase in the residence homestead exemption from \$40,000 to \$100,000. Adds subsection (n-1) to prohibit the governing

body of a school district, municipality, or county from reducing or repealing a local option homestead exemption that was adopted for the 2022 tax year. The prohibition expires on Dec. 31, 2027.

Effective on the date of the official canvas showing adoption of HJR 2 (2nd CS), contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS), and applies beginning with the 2023 tax year.

Section 11.18

HB 456 amends subsection (a) to expand the property tax exemption for charitable organizations to include royalty interest owned by certain charitable organizations if the royalty interest was not severed from the ground of the estate or was donated to the charitable organization by the previous owner of the royalty interest.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to property taxes imposed for a tax year that begins on or after the effective date.

HB 4559 amends subsection (p) to adjust the population brackets for the existing property tax exemption for a charitable organization providing housing and related services to homeless individuals. The bill adjusts the population bracket for a county from no more than 1 million and less than 1.5 million to no more than 1.2 million and less than 1.5 million (Travis County) and increases the population bracket for a county in which a qualifying municipality is located from 5,000 to 5,500 (Midland County).

Effective Sept. 1, 2023

SB 719 amends subsection (d) to expand the property tax exemption for charitable organizations to include an organization providing serves related to planning for the placement of or placing children in foster or adoptive homes or providing support or relief to women who are or may be pregnant and who are considering placing their unborn children for adoption. The bill strikes the term "handicapped" to describe persons or children with disabilities.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to a tax year that begins on or after the effective date.

Section 11.1825

HB 4559 amends subsections (s) and (v) to adjust the county population bracket from at least 1.8 million to at least 2.1 million for purposes of the governing body of a taxing

unit approving certain low-income housing property tax exemptions.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023

HB 4645 adds subsection (a-1) to expand the property tax exemption for organizations providing low-income housing to exempt improvements owned by an organization that leases land under a ground lease.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to a property tax year starting on or after the effective date.

Section 11.26

SB 2 (2nd CS) repeals subsections (a-1), (a-2), and (a-3), relating to the adjustment to the tax limitation to account for changes to the school finance system that went into effect in 2007. Amends subsection (a-10) to provide for an automatic tax limitation adjustment for increases to the residence homestead exemption or the exemption for individuals 65 years of age or older or disabled. Adds subsections (a-11) and (a-12) to provide an adjustment to the tax limitation for the increase in the residence homestead exemption from \$40,000 to \$100,000 as well as the prior increase from \$25,000 to \$40,000. Amends subsection (o) to strike language related to a repealed provision.

Effective on the date of the official canvas showing adoption of HJR 2 (2nd CS), contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS), and applies beginning with the 2023 tax year.

SB 2 (2nd CS) repeals subsections (a-5), (a-6), (a-7), (a-8), and (a-9), relating to the adjustment to the tax limitation to account for school district tax rate compression in tax years 2019 through 2022.

Effective Jan. 1, 2025, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Section 11.36

SB 1145 adds this section to authorize a county or municipality to grant up to a 50 percent property tax exemption on real property owned or leased for the purposes of operating a qualifying child-care facility. The bill defines "child-care facility" to mean a facility licensed by the Health and Human Services Commission and "qualifying child-care facility" as a child-care facility for which the owner or operator participates in the Texas Workforce Commission's Texas Rising Star Program and at which at least 20 percent of the total

number of children enrolled at the facility receive subsidized child-care services provided through the child-care services program administered by the Texas Workforce Commission.

The bill requires an owner of leased property to submit an affidavit certifying that the person has provided the operator of the child-care facility a disclosure document stating the amount by which the taxes on the property will be reduced as a result of the exemption and the method to ensure that the rent charged for the lease of the property fully reflects that reduction. The affidavit must state that the rent charged for leasing the property reflects the reduction in the amount of property taxes resulting from the exemption through a monthly or annual credit against the rent and that the owner of leased property does not charge rent for the lease of the property in an amount that exceeds the rent charged by the owner to other tenants of the commercial property for similar space or the average rent charged for comparable rental property. Property is ineligible for the exemption if the property is a residence homestead or leased to another person for use as a principal residence.

The bill authorizes the Comptroller to adopt rules and forms necessary to administer the exemption.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, contingent on voter approval of SJR 64, and applies only to property taxes imposed for a tax year beginning on or after the effective date.

SB 2289 adds this section to grant a property tax exemption for owned or leased medical or biomedical property located in a medical or biomedical manufacturing facility that a person owns or leases. The bill defines "medical or biomedical property" as personal property stored, used, or consumed in the manufacturing or processing of medical or biomedical products by a medical or biomedical manufacturer including devices, therapeutics, pharmaceuticals, personal protective equipment, tools, apparatuses, instruments, implants, or other similar or related component parts or accessories, property exempted under the sales tax as manufacturing equipment, and manufacturing inventories, including finished goods. The bill defines "medical or biomedical manufacturing facility" as a facility at which a person conducts manufacturing or processing of medical or biomedical products for purposes of development and commercialization to advance public health.

Unless the governing body of a taxing unit has provided for the taxation of tangible personal property that is not held or used for the production of income, a taxing unit is prohibited from taxing medical or biomedical property exempted under this section.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, contingent on voter approval of SJR 87, and applies only to property taxes imposed for a tax year beginning on or after the effective date.

Section 11.42

SB 2289 amends subsection (d) to provide that an individual who acquires property after January 1 of a tax year may receive the medical or biomedical property exemption on the property for the applicable portion of the tax year which the individual qualified.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, contingent on voter approval of SJR 87, and applies only to property taxes imposed for a tax year beginning on or after the effective date.

Section 11.43

HB 4077 amends subsection (m) to require the chief appraiser to automatically grant the residence homestead exemption for an individual 65 years of age or older if the appraisal district has the information in the appraisal records indicating that the property owner became 65 years of age in the preceding tax year without requiring the property owner to apply for or request the exemption.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to property taxes imposed for a tax year that begins on or after the effective date.

SB 1145 amends subsection (c) to provide that the child-care facilities exemption, once allowed, does not need to be claimed in subsequent years.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, contingent on voter approval of SJR 64, and applies only to property taxes imposed for a tax year beginning on or after the effective date.

SB 1381 amends subsection (I) to require the residence homestead application form include a space for the date of birth of the applicant's spouse in addition to a space for the applicant's date of birth, and adds a statement that failure to provide the date of birth of the applicant's spouse does not affect the applicant or applicant's spouse for the residence homestead exemption or the exemption for a surviving spouse of an individual 65 years of age or older. The bill adds subsection (m-2) to provide that an eligible surviving spouse of an individual 65 years of age or older is entitled to continue

to receive the exemption without applying for the exemption if the appraisal district learns of the person's death from any source and has information necessary to determine the surviving spouse's eligibility in the appraisal records. The bill adds subsection (m-3) to provide that subsection (m-2) does not apply if the chief appraiser determines that the surviving spouse is no longer entitled to the residence homestead exemption.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to property taxes imposed for a tax year on or after the effective date.

SB 1801 adds subdivision (h-1) to require a chief appraiser to develop a program for the periodic review of residence homestead exemptions to confirm that the recipient continues to qualify for the exemption. The program must require the review of each residence homestead exemption at least once every five tax years, which may be done in phases with a portion of the exemptions reviewed each tax year.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023. A chief appraiser must develop and implement the program by Jan. 1, 2024.

SB 2289 amends subsection (c) to provide that the medical or biomedical property exemption, once allowed, does not need to be claimed in subsequent years.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, contingent on voter approval of SJR 87, and applies only to property taxes imposed for a tax year beginning on or after the effective date.

Chapter 22. Renditions and Other Reports

Section 22.24

HB 2121 amends subsection (e) to add a report filed on behalf of a property owner who is rendering business personal property and whose good faith estimate of the market value of that property is not more than \$150,000 to the list of exceptions to the requirement that a rendition or report must be sworn to before an officer authorized by law to administer an oath.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to a rendition of property for property taxes purposes for a tax year that begins on or after the effective date.

Chapter 23. Appraisal Methods and Procedures

Section 23.03

HB 5 amends this section to add properties that are subject to a limitation on taxable value under Subchapter T, Chapter 403, Government Code (Texas Jobs, Energy, Technology, and Innovation Act), to the list of large properties and properties subject to a limitation on appraised or taxable value required to be compiled by a chief appraiser and submitted to the Texas Economic Development and Tourism Office.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024.

Section 23.231

SB 2 (2nd CS) adds this section to provide a circuit breaker limitation on the appraised value of real property. Defines "consumer price index," "disaster recovery program," and "new improvement" for purposes of this section. This section applies only to real property with an appraised value of not more than \$5 million in 2024; requires the Comptroller to adjust the value threshold annually by the percentage increase or decrease during the preceding state fiscal year in the consumer price index rounded to the nearest \$10,000. The amount in effect for a tax year is required to be published as soon as practicable after January 1 of each tax year. The limitation does not apply to residence homestead property or property receiving special appraisal under Subchapters C, D, E, F, G, or H.

Provides that an appraisal office may increase the appraised value of qualified real property for a tax year to an amount not to exceed the lesser or the market value of the property for the most recent tax year that the market value was determined or the sum of 20 percent of the appraised value of the property for the preceding tax year, the appraised value of the property for the preceding tax year, and the market value of all new improvements to the property. The chief appraiser is required to appraise the property at market value and include the both the market value and the value as determined under the circuit breaker limitation in the appraisal records.

The circuit breaker limitation takes effect as to a parcel of real property on January 1 of the tax year following the first tax year in which the owner owns the property on January 1. The limitation expires on January 1 of the tax year following the tax year in which the owner ceases to own the property. A

person who acquired real property before the 2023 tax year is considered to have acquired the property on Jan. 1, 2023.

An improvement to real property that would otherwise constitute a new improvement is not treated as a new improvement if the improvement is a replacement structure for a structure that was rendered uninhabitable or unusable by casualty or by wind or water damage. Specifies the manner in which property is to be appraised if the property would otherwise be considered a new improvement had the casualty or damage not occurred and states that the replacement structure is considered to be a new improvement only if the square footage exceeds that of the replaced structure or the exterior is of higher qualify construction and composition than that of the replaced structure. Provides that a replacement structure is not considered to be a new improvement if differences in the square footage or exterior construction are necessary to satisfy the requirements of a disaster recovery program.

The circuit breaker limitation expires on Dec. 31, 2026.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS), and applies only to the appraisal of real property for a tax year that begins on or after the effective date.

Section 23.51

HB 260 amends subdivision (4), the definition of net to land, to define "wildlife or livestock disease or pest area" to mean an area designated by the Texas Parks and Wildlife Department or the Texas Animal Health Commission as an area in which diseases or pests that affect wildlife or livestock may exist, including a chronic wasting disease containment or surveillance zone and are subject to a quarantine under Subtitle C, Title 6, Agriculture Code. The bill requires the chief appraiser to take into consideration the effect that the presence of the applicable disease or pest or the designation of the area has on the net income from the land when calculating net to land of open-space land located in or adjacent to a wildlife or livestock disease or pest area.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to appraisal for open-space land for a tax year that begins on or after the effective date.

Section 23.54

HB 2354 adds subsection (e-1) to provide that, for purposes of qualifying for open-space agriculture special valuation, ownership of the land is not considered to have changed if the land is transferred to a surviving spouse of the former owner.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024.

Section 23.541

SB 1191 adds subsection (a-l) to require a chief appraiser to approve or deny an application for open-space agriculture valuation after the deadline for filing has passed if:

- the land that was the subject of the application was appraised as open-space land in the preceding tax year;
- the ownership of the land changed as a result of the death of an owner of the land during the preceding tax year; and,
- the application is filed not later than the delinquency date for the taxes on the land for the year in which the application is filed by the surviving spouse or surviving child of the decedent, the executor or administrator of the estate of the decedent, or a fiduciary acting on behalf of the surviving spouse or surviving child of the decedent.

Amends subsection (b) to provide that the penalty for a late filed application does not apply to an application filed under subsection (a-1).

Effective May 23, 2023, applies beginning with the 2023 tax year.

Chapter 25. Local Appraisal

Section 25.025

HB 1911, SB 617, SB 870, SB 1525 amend subsection (a) to add the following individuals to whom provisions relating to confidentiality of certain home address information apply:

- a current or former employee or contract staff member of a university health care provider at a corrections facility operated by the Texas Department of Criminal Justice or the Texas Juvenile Justice Department (HB 1911);
- a current or former attorney for the Department of Family Protective Services (**HB 1911 and SB 1525**);
- a customs and border protection officer or border patrol agent of the United States Customs and Border Protection or the spouse, surviving spouse, or adult child of a customs and border protection officer or border patrol agent (SB 617);
- a current or former employee of the Office of the Attorney General who was assigned to perform duties

under Chapter 231, Family Code (Administration of Title IV-D Program) (**SB 870**).

Effective May 19, 2023, (SB 617).

Effective June 9, 2023 (HB 1911).

Effective June 18, 2023 (SB 1525).

Effective Sept. 1, 2023, and applies only to a request submitted on or after the effective date (SB 870).

Section 25.19

HB 3273 redesignates subsection (m), as added by Chapter 209 (HB 2723), Acts of the 87th Legislature, Regular Session, as subsection (1-l) and amends the subsection to require the notice of appraised value to include the notice required by Tax Code Section 26.04(e-2), related to visiting Texas.gov/PropertyTaxes to find a link to access the local property tax information database.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024.

Section 25.19

SB 2 (2nd CS) amends subsections (b) and (g) to require the notice of appraised value and the notice of reappraisal, ownership change, or by request to include a statement of whether the property qualifies for the circuit breaker limitation on appraised value as provided by Tax Code Section 23.231.

Adds subsection (o) to provide that a notice required under subsections (a) or (g) that is delivered to the owner of real property other than a residence homestead must include the following statement: "Under Section 23.231, Tax Code, for the 2024, 2025, and 2026 tax years, the appraised value of real property other than a residence homestead for ad valorem tax purposes may not be increased by more than 20 percent each year, with certain exceptions. The circuit breaker limitation provided under Section 23.231, Tax Code, expires December 31, 2026. Unless this expiration date is extended by the Texas Legislature, beginning in the 2027 tax year, the circuit breaker limitation provided under Section 23.231, Tax Code, will no longer be in effect and may result in an increase in ad valorem taxes imposed on real property previously subject to the limitation." This subsection expires Dec. 31, 2026.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS), and applies only to the appraisal of real property for a tax year that begins on or after the effective date.

SB 2 (2nd CS) amends subsections (b) and (g) to strike references to the circuit breaker limitation on appraised value under Tax Code Section 23.231.

Effective Jan. 1, 2027, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Section 25.192

HB 1228 amends subsection (d), related to separate delivery of the notice of eligibility for a residence homestead exemption, to strike provisions related to Tax Code Section 1.086, which is repealed by the bill.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024.

Section 25.193

HB 1228 amends subsection (b), related to the notice of a cancelled or reduced exemption, to strike provisions related to Tax Code Section 1.086, which is repealed by the bill.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024.

Section 25.195

HB 1228 adds subsection (a-1) to require an appraisal district, upon the request of the property owner or owner's agent, to provide a copy of the appraisal records, supporting data, schedules, and other material and information the property owner is entitled to inspect by mail or electronically as provided by Tax Code Section 1.085. Adds subsection (c-1) to require a private appraisal firm, upon the request of the property owner or owner's agent, to provide a copy of the information pertaining to the property that the firm considered in appraising the property, including information showing each method of appraisal used to determine the value of the property and all calculations, personal notes, correspondence, and working papers used in appraising the property by mail or electronically as provided by Tax Code Section 1.085. The bill prohibits an appraisal district or private appraisal firm from imposing a fee for providing the information.

The bill makes conforming amendments to subsections (d) and (e).

Effective Jan. 1, 2024. A tax official of an appraisal district established in a county with a population of 120,000 or more or of a taxing unit located wholly or primarily in such an appraisal district is required to comply with the amendments to this section beginning with the 2024 tax year. A tax official located in a county other than one described above

is required to comply with the amendments to this section beginning with the 2025 tax year.

Section 25.23

SB 2 (**2nd CS**) adds subsection (a-1) as a transitional provision that applies only to appraisal records for the 2023 tax year. Requires the chief appraiser to prepare supplemental appraisal records to account for the changes in law made by SB 2 (2nd CS). The subsection expires on Dec. 31, 2024.

Effective July 22, 2023.

Chapter 26. Assessment

Section 26.012

HB 5 amends the definition of "current total value" for a school district to exclude new property value or property that is subject to an agreement entered into under Subchapter T, Chapter 403, Government Code (Texas Jobs, Energy, Technology, and Innovation Act).

Effective Jan. 1, 2024.

HB 4456 amends the definition of "no-new-revenue maintenance and operations rate" for a school district to be the rate calculated as provided by Education Code Section 44.004(c) (5)(A)(ii)(a).

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to a tax year that begins on or after the effective date.

Section 26.013

SB 1999 adds subsection (1-a) to define "foregone revenue amount" to mean the greater of zero or the amount expressed in dollars calculated by subtracting the actual tax rate from the voter-approval tax rate and multiplying by the preceding total value. Adds subsection (1-b) to define "preceding total value" to mean a taxing unit's current total value in the applicable preceding year.

Amends subsection (b) to adjust the calculation for the unused increment rate to be the sum of the foregone revenue amount in the preceding three tax years divided by the current total value.

Effective Jan.1, 2024.

SB 2350 amends subsection (a) to specify that the voter-approval tax rate as defined for purposes of the unused

increment means the voter-approval tax rate as adopted by the taxing unit during the applicable preceding tax year.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 26.04

HB 3273 amends subsection (e-2) to require the appraisal district and each taxing unit that participates in the appraisal district to prominently post on their Internet website a notice informing each property owner in the appraisal district that the estimated amount of taxes imposed may be found in the property tax database maintained by the appraisal district, rather than delivering the notice by regular mail or e-mail. The bill requires the notice of estimated taxes be in bold type-face and, in addition to current notice requirements, include instructions describing how a property owner may register on the appraisal district's Internet website, if the appraisal district maintains an Internet website, to have notifications regarding updates to the property tax database delivered to the owner by e-mail.

Amends subsection (e-4) to provide that Comptroller rules related to formatting of the notice of estimated taxes may include rules on posting and publication of the notice.

Add subsection (e-6) to require the chief appraiser to publish the notice of estimated taxes in a newspaper of general circulation by August 7 or as soon thereafter as practicable. If there is not a newspaper of general circulation in the county, the chief appraiser is required to post the notice at the appraisal district office.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to a notice for a property tax year beginning after the effective date.

Section 26.04

SB 2 (2nd CS) adds subsection (a-1) to require the assessor for a taxing unit to determine the total taxable value of property taxable by the taxing unit and the taxable value of property as if the changes in law made by SB 2 (2nd CS) were in effect for the 2023 tax year. The subsection expires on Dec. 31, 2024. Adds subsection (c-1) to require the no-new-revenue tax rate and voter-approval tax rate to be calculated as if the changes made by SB 2 (2nd CS) were in effect for the 2023 tax year. The subsection expires on Dec. 31, 2024.

Effective July 22, 2023.

Section 26.0401

SB 2 (2nd CS) adds this section to require taxing units that calculate the no-new-revenue tax rate, the voter-approval tax rate, and any related tax rate under a provision of law other than Tax Code Section 26.04 or 26.08 to calculate those rates as if the changes made by SB 2 (2nd CS) were in effect for the 2023 tax year. The section expires on Dec. 31, 2024.

Effective July 22, 2023.

Section 26.05

HB 3273 amends subsection (d-1) to provide that a taxing unit, other than a school district, may not hold a public hearing on a proposed tax rate, until the fifth day after a chief appraiser has posted the notice of estimated taxes on the appraisal district's Internet website or published the notice of estimated taxes in a newspaper of general circulation or at the appraisal district office, as applicable.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to a notice for a property tax year beginning after the effective date.

HB 4456 amends subsection (b) to make conforming changes related to the no-new-revenue maintenance and operations tax rate for school districts.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to a tax year that begins on or after the effective date.

Section 26.08

SB 2 (2nd CS) adds subsection (q) to require the voter-approval tax rate of a school district to be calculated as if the changed made by SB 2 (2nd CS) were in effect for the 2023 tax year. The subsection expires on Dec. 31, 2024.

Effective July 22, 2023.

Section 26.09

SB 2 (2nd CS) adds subsection (c-1) to require the assessor for a taxing unit to calculate the amount of tax imposed by the taxing unit on property for the 2023 tax year as if changes made by SB 2 (2nd CS) were in effect for the 2023 tax year and also as if the changes were not in effect. The subsection expires on Dec. 31, 2024.

Effective July 22, 2023.

Section 26.15

SB 2 (2nd CS) adds subsection (h) to require the assessor for a taxing unit to correct the tax roll for the taxing unit for the 2023 tax year to reflect the results of the election to approve the constitutional amendment proposed by HJR 2 (2nd CS). The subsection expires on Dec. 31, 2024.

Effective July 22, 2023.

Section 26.17

HB 796 amends subsection (c) to require the database of property tax-related information to include a link to the Internet database containing information related to protest hearings conducted by the appraisal review board.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024.

HB 3273 adds subsection (g) to require the appraisal district to deliver email notifications to a property owner regarding updates to the property tax database if the property owner registers on the website to receive such notifications.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to a notice for a property tax year beginning after the effective date.

HB 4456 amends subsection (b) to strike the term "weighted" from the tax rate that would maintain the same amount of revenue per student that the district received in the school year in the preceding tax year for the rate that must be included in the database of property tax related information.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to a tax year that begins on or after the effective date.

Chapter 31. Collections

Section 31.01

SB 2 (2nd CS) adds subsections (d-2), (d-3), and (d-4) to apply to taxes imposed for the 2023 tax year and only if the changes made by SB 2 (2nd CS) would lower the taxes imposed on the individual property for that tax year. Requires the assessor for a taxing unit to compute the amount of taxes imposed as if the changes made by SB 2 (2nd CS) were in effect for the 2023 tax year. The tax bill or a separate statement must indicate that the bill is a provisional tax bill and include a statement indicating what the tax bill would be if SB 2 (2nd CS) were not in effect, the amount by which the tax bill would be lowered by SB 2 (2nd CS), and the amount of the tax bill contingent on the passage of the constitutional amendment proposed by HJR 2 (2nd CS). The statement must note that a

supplemental tax bill in the specified amount will be mailed if the constitutional amendment is not approved by the voters.

A tax bill prepared and mailed under subsection (d-2) is considered a provisional tax bill until the canvass of the votes on the constitutional amendment proposed by HJR 2 (2nd CS). If the constitutional amendment is approved by the voters, the tax bill is considered the final tax bill for the 2023 tax year. If the constitutional amendment is not approved by the voters a tax bill prepared and mailed under subsection (d-2) is considered to be a final tax bill but only as to the portion of the taxes imposed on the property that were included in the bill, the amount of taxes imposed by each taxing unit for the 2023 tax year is calculated as if the changes in SB 2 (2nd CS) were not in effect, and the assessor is required to prepare and mail a supplemental tax bill in the amount equal to the difference between the total amount of taxes imposed and the amount of the provisional tax bill. The supplemental tax bill is required to be mailed by December 1 or as soon thereafter as practicable.

Adds subsection (d-4) to provide that provisions of this section other than subsection (d-2) apply to a supplemental tax bill mailed under subsection (d-3). Adds subsection (d-5) to provide that subsections (d-2), (d-3), (d-4), and (d-5) expire on Dec. 31, 2024.

Effective July 22, 2023.

Section 31.02

SB 2 (2nd CS) adds subsection (a-1) to provide that taxes on a supplemental tax bill mailed under Section 31.01(d-3) as added by SB 2 (2nd CS) are due on receipt of the tax bill and are delinquent if not paid before March 1, 2024. The subsection expires on Dec. 31, 2024.

Effective July 22, 2023.

Section 31.03

HB 4559 amends subsection (d) to adjust the county population bracket from not less than 285,000 and not more than 300,000 to not less than 315,000 and not more than 351,000 for a county that borders a county having a population of 3.3 million or more and the Gulf of Mexico for purposes of the governing body of a taxing unit adopting a split-payment of taxes option.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Section 31.11

HB 4559 amends subsections (a) and (i) to adjust the population bracket from a county with a population of 2 million or more to 2.5 million or more for purposes of the governing body of taxing unit approving certain refunds for erroneous or excessive payments.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Chapter 32. Tax Liens and Personal Liability

Section 32.06

SB 1371 amends subsections (d-1) and (f-3) to update federal law citations, which describe a right of recission applicable to the transfer of a tax lien on residential property owned and used by the property owner for personal, family or household purposes.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Chapter 33. Delinquency

Section 33.03

SB 539 adds subsection (b) to require the collector for a taxing unit to indicate whether an individual listed on the delinquent tax roll has elected to defer or abate the collection of delinquent taxes.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024.

Section 33.43

SB 2091 amends subsection (a) to add section 34.0101 (authorizing a taxing unit to sell seized real property to the owner of abutting property at a private sale) to the provision relating to the contents of a petition initiating a suit to collect a delinquent property tax.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023, and applies only to a petition initiating a suit to collect a delinquent property tax filed on or after the effective date.

Chapter 34. Tax Sales and Redemption

Section 34.01

SB 59 amends subsection (e) to require political subdivisions within certain counties located near the international border to include in the notice of sale of real property presumed to be for residential use a statement regarding water and wastewater requirements.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023, and applies only to notice given on or after the effective date.

Section 34.0101

SB 2091 adds this section relating to the sale of certain property to an owner of abutting property. Subsection (a) defines "flood insurance rate map" to mean the most recent flood hazard map published by the Federal Emergency Management Agency under the National Flood Insurance Act of 1968, and "floodway" to mean an area that is identified on the flood insurance rate map as a regulatory floodway, including the channel of a river or other watercourse and the adjacent land areas that must be reserved for the discharge of a base flood, also known as a 100-year flood, without cumulatively increasing the water surface elevation more than a designated height.

Subsection (b) provides that the section applies to real property that is seized under a tax warrant or ordered sold pursuant to a foreclosure of a tax lien that is meets one of the following conditions:

- a narrow strip of land or other parcel of land that because of its shape or small area cannot be used independently under its current zoning classification or under applicable subdivision or other development ordinances;
- · landlocked without direct access to a public road; or,
- located in an area designated by the Federal Emergency Management Agency under the National Flood Insurance Act of 1968 as having a two-tenths of 1 percent or greater annual chance of flooding or a floodway.

Subsection (c) provides that the following Tax Code sections are applicable to a sale of real property under this section: 34.01 (sale of property), 34.02 (distribution of proceeds), 34.03 (disposition of excess proceeds), 34.04 (claims for excess proceeds) and 34.21 (right of redemption).

Subsection (d) authorizes a taxing unit that requested a tax warrant or order of sale of real property to direct the officer charged with selling the property to sell the property to an owner of abutting property at a private sale. Subsection (e) provides that prior to the property being sold at a private sale, the property must be offered for sale at a public auction and a bid in an amount specified under subsection (h) is not received.

Subsection (f) requires a taxing unit that directs the private sale of real property that abuts two or more adjacent parcels with different owners to give notice of the sale to each owner. The notice must state that the taxing unit will offer the property for sale, accept sealed bids for the property, and sell the property to the highest bidder.

Subsection (g) requires purchasers of property under this section to meet requirements under Tax Code Section 34.015 (persons eligible to purchase real property).

Subsection (h) provides that a taxing unit that directs the sale of real property at a private sale may not sell the property for an amount that is less than the lesser of the market value as specified in the warrant of judgement or, for a property seized under a tax warrant, the total amount of taxes, penalties, interest, costs, fees, and other claims for which the warrant was issued or, for a property ordered sold pursuant to a foreclosure of a tax lien, the total amount due under the judgement is not received.

Subsection (i) allows the taxing unit that requested a tax warrant or order of sale for real property to sell the property without the consent of another taxing unit entitled to receive proceeds of the sale.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023, and applies only to a petition initiating a suit to collect a delinquent property tax filed on or after the effective date.

Section 34.015

SB 62 adds subsection (c-1) to require the county assessor-collector to post the form a person must use to request a delinquent tax statement on the county's Internet website. If the county assessor-collector permits a person to use a form prescribed by the Comptroller for that purpose, the county assessor-collector may post a link to the Comptroller's Internet website where the form can be viewed.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Section 34.02

SB 2091 amends subsections (a) and (d) to make conforming changes by adding Tax Code Section 34.0101 (sale of certain property to the owner of abutting property) to how proceeds from a tax sale are to be distributed.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023, and applies only to a petition initiating a suit to collect a delinquent property tax filed on or after the effective date.

Section 34.03

HB 4250 amends subsection (d) to provide that the clerk of the court may deduct from the amount of the excess proceeds of a tax sale, the cost of postage for sending notice to the former owner of the property by certified mail.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Chapter 41. Local Review

Section 41.13

HB 796 adds this section to require an appraisal district to create and maintain a publicly available and searchable online database containing the following information for each protest hearing conducted by the appraisal review board:

- the name of each appraisal review board member who attended the hearing;
- the date and time of hearing;
- the account number and category of property subject to hearing;
- the appraised value according to appraisal district and property owner's asserted value of the property subject to the hearing; and,
- the appraisal review board's determination of the protest, including the determination of value.

The bill requires the chief appraiser to update the information in the database not later than October 1, of each year.

Beginning Jan. 1, 2025, the bill requires the database to include information for protests relating to the most recent tax year and each tax year thereafter until the database includes information for protests relating to the most recent five tax years. Beginning Jan. 1, 2030, the database is required include information for protests relating to the previous five tax years.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024. Each chief appraiser is required to provide the Internet database by Jan. 1, 2024.

Section 41.41

SB 2 (2nd CS) amends subsection (a) to authorize a property owner to file a protest before the appraisal review board related to a determination that the owner's property does not

qualify for the circuit breaker limitation on appraised value under Tax Code Section 23.231.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS), and applies only to the appraisal of real property for a tax year that begins on or after the effective date.

SB 2 (**2nd CS**) amends subsection (a) to remove the ability of a property owner to file a protest before the appraisal review board related to a determination that the owner's property does not qualify for the circuit breaker limitation on appraised value under Tax Code Section 23.231.

Effective Jan. 1, 2027, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Section 41.46

HB 1228 repeals subsection (e) related to electronic delivery of the notice of an appraisal review board hearing at the request of the property owner.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024.

HB 3273 amends subsection (a) to require the notice of protest hearing sent by the appraisal review board to a property owner regarding the date, time, and place of the protest hearing to include the notice of estimated taxes under Tax Code Section 26.04(e-2).

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to a notice for a property tax year beginning after the effective date.

Section 41.461

HB 1228 amends subsection (c) to require a chief appraiser to electronically deliver a copy of the data, schedules, formulas, and all other information the chief appraiser intends to introduce at the protest hearing requested by a property owner or owner's agent if the property owner or owner's agent has elected to receive electronic communications under Tax Code Section 1.085.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024. A tax official of an appraisal district established in a county with a population of 120,000 or more or of a taxing unit located wholly or primarily in such an appraisal district is required to comply with the amendments to this section beginning with the 2024 tax year. A tax official located in a county other than one described above is required to comply with the amendments to this section beginning with the 2025 tax year.

Section 41.47

HB 1228 amends subsection (d) to require the appraisal review board to electronically deliver the order of determination and a copy of the appraisal review board survey if the property owner or owner's agent has elected to receive electronic communications under Section 1.085. Repeals subsection (d-1) related to electronic delivery of appraisal review board orders of determination at the request of the property owner or owner's agent.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024. A tax official of an appraisal district established in a county with a population of 120,000 or more or of a taxing unit located wholly or primarily in such an appraisal district is required to comply with the amendments to this section beginning with the 2024 tax year. A tax official located in a county other than one described above is required to comply with the amendments to this section beginning with the 2025 tax year.

Section 41.66

HB 1285 amends subsection (q) to authorize the board of directors to refer complaints regarding to the conduct of the appraisal review board and investigated by the taxpayer liaison officer to the local administrative district judge with a recommendation that the judge review the member of the appraisal review board serving as chairman if the chairman has failed to take remedial action required by the board of directors to resolve a complaint. If the local administrative district judge agrees with the board of directors' recommendation, the judge is required to remove the chairman from that office and appoint another member of the appraisal review board as chairman.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024.

Chapter 41A. Appeal Through Binding Arbitration

Section 41A.015

HB 4101 amends subsection (a) to expand the reasons for filing a request for limited binding arbitration to include a failure of the appraisal review board to comply with the hearing procedures adopted by the appraisal review board.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to a request for limited binding arbitration related to a protest filed on or after the effective date.

Section 41A.03

SB 2355 amends subsection (a) to provide that a request for binding arbitration be filed with the Comptroller rather than the appraisal district. The bill strikes the requirement that an arbitration deposit be made payable to the Comptroller. The bill adds subsection (c) to provide that a property owner must pay the arbitration deposit electronically if the request for binding arbitration is filed electronically. Adds subsection (d) to provide that a property owner must pay the binding arbitration deposit by check or money order made payable to the Comptroller if the request for binding arbitration is not filed electronically.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to a request for arbitration made on or after the effective date.

Section 41A.04

SB 2355 amends subdivision (3) to provide that the request form for binding arbitration include any information reasonably necessary for the Comptroller, rather than the appraisal district, to process the request and appoint an arbitrator.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to a request for arbitration made on or after the effective date.

Section 41A.05

SB 2355 amends subsection (a) requiring an appraisal district to provide the Comptroller the necessary information to process the request and assign an arbitrator, in the manner prescribed by the Comptroller. The information must be provided by the 10th day after the appraisal district receives notification the arbitration request has been filed.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to a request for arbitration made on or after the effective date.

Section 41A.08

SB 2355 adds subsection (c) to require that the designation of an agent by a property owner be made by written authorization on a form prescribed by the Comptroller. The designation must authorize the agent to represent the owner in an arbitration proceeding. Adds subsection (d) to require the property owner's agent to retain the form and produce the form if requested by:

- the property owner;
- appraisal district party to the arbitration;
- appraisal review board party to the arbitration;
- arbitrator assigned; or,

• the Comptroller.

The bill adds subsection (e) to allow a property owner to assign their right to receive a refund of an arbitration deposit to an agent or entity on a form prescribed by the Comptroller.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to a request for arbitration made on or after the effective date.

Section 41A.11

SB 2355 amends this section to provide that as with an arbitration award, an arbitration settlement reached between parties is considered to be a final determination of an appeal.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to a request for arbitration made on or after the effective date.

Chapter 42. Judicial Review

Section 42.23

HB 2488 adds subsection (i) to provide that, in an appeal of a protest or motion determined by the appraisal review board, the appraisal district has the burden of establishing the appraised value of the property subject to the appeal by clear and convincing evidence if the value for the preceding tax year was determined at a trial on the merits.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023, and applies only to an appeal filed on or after the effective date.

Section 42.26

SB 2 (2nd CS) amends subsection (d) to add a reference to the circuit breaker limitation under Tax Code Section 23.231 as it relates to the use of market value in an appeal on unequal appraisal.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

SB 2 (2nd CS) amends subsection (d) to remove a reference to the circuit breaker limitation under Tax Code Section 23.231 as it relates to the use of market value in an appeal on unequal appraisal.

Effective Jan. 1, 2027, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Chapter 312. Property Redevelopment and Tax Abatement Act

Section 312.0025

HB 5 amends subsection (a) to make conforming changes related to Subchapter T, Chapter 403, Government Code (Texas Jobs, Energy, Technology, and Innovation Act).

Effective Jan. 1, 2024.

Section 312.008

SB 1340 adds this section to require a taxing unit that maintains an Internet website and has entered into a tax abatement agreement to publish a link to the Local Development Agreement Database maintained by the Comptroller's office.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to an agreement made on or after the effective date.

Agriculture Code

Section 251.002

HB 2947 amends subdivision (1) by adding the commercial sale of animals as defined by Agriculture Code Section 252.001 (animal and crop facilities) to the definition of agricultural operations.

Effective June 11, 2023.

Civil Practice and Remedies Code

Section 34.041

HB 1382 adds subsection (a-1) to provide that a commissioner's court may authorize the officer charged with conducting a public sale of real property taken in execution of a judgement to conduct a public auction using online bidding and sale. Authorizes the commissioner's court to adopt rules related to the online auctions; rules adopted by the commissioner's court take effect 90 days after they are published in the county's real property records. The bill adds subsection (a-2) to exclude the sale of real property that is under a power of sale conferred by a contract lien from the online auction authorized by the commissioner's court. Makes conforming changes to subsection (b).

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Code of Criminal Procedure

Sections 58.051, 58.052, 58.054, 58.055, 58.056

HB 1161 amends these sections to add "child abduction" as a category for protection under the Attorney General's address confidentiality program and specifies eligibility.

Effective May 24, 2023.

Education Code

Section 45.1011

HB 3 adds this section relating to school facility safety standards. Subsection (a) authorizes the use of bond proceeds for the construction and equipment of school buildings and the purchase of the necessary sites for school building to be used to pay the costs associated with complying with school safety and security requirements for school facilities in accordance with Education Code Section 37.351 (safety and security requirements for facilities, facilities standards compliance). Subsection (b) requires a school district that has been determined by the agency to not be in compliance with safety and security requirements to use bond proceeds for the construction and equipment of school buildings and the purchase of necessary sites for school buildings to achieve compliance with applicable safety and security requirements before the district may use the proceeds for any other authorized purpose.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Section 46.071

SB 2 (2nd CS) adds subsection (a-2) to provide that beginning with the 2023-2024 school year, a school district is entitled to additional state aid to the extent that state and local revenue used to service eligible debt is less than the state and local revenue that would have been available to the district if the increase in the residence homestead and any additional limitation on tax increases had not occurred. Adds subsection (b-2) to provide that additional state aid under this section, beginning with the 2023-2024 school year, is equal to

the amount by which the loss of local interest and sinking revenue for debt service attributable to any increase in the residence homestead exemption and any additional limitation on tax increases is not offset by a gain in state aid under this chapter. Adds subsection (c-2) to provide that for purposes of determining state aid under subsections (a-2) and (b-2), local interest and sinking revenue for debt service is limited to revenue required to service debt eligible under this chapter as of Sept. 1, 2023, or authorized by the voters but not yet issued as of Sept. 1, 202, that later becomes eligible, including refunding of that debt subject to Section 46.061. The limitation on the existing debt tax rate imposed by Section 46.034(a) does not apply for the purpose of determining state aid under this section.

Effective on the date of the official canvas showing adoption of HJR 2 (2nd CS), and contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Section 48.2542

SB 2 (2nd CS) amends this section related to additional state aid for the adjustment of the limitation on tax increases for a residence homestead of an elderly or disabled person to add the adjustments as provided by Tax Code Sections 11.26(a-11) and (a-12).

Effective on the date of the official canvas showing adoption of HJR 2 (2nd CS), and contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

SB 2 (2nd CS) amends this section related to additional state aid for the adjustment of the limitation on tax increases for a residence homestead of an elderly or disabled person to provide for the adjustment as described by Tax Code Section 11.26(a-10) and strikes references to subsections that are repealed by the bill.

Effective Jan. 1, 2025, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Section 48.2543

SB 2 (2nd CS) add subsection (a-1) to provide that, beginning with the 2023-2024 school year, a school district is entitled to additional state aid to the extent that state and local revenues for maintenance and operations (M&O) with the increased homestead exemption would be less than the district's combined state and local revenue for M&O had the residence homestead exemption not increased. Amends subsection (b) to specify that the currently adopted M&O tax rate for the

2022 tax year is used for the purpose of determining additional state aid.

Effective on the date of the official canvas showing adoption of HJR 2 (2nd CS), and contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Section 48.2555

SB 2 (2nd CS) adds this section to require the commissioner of education to calculate a school district's maximum compressed rate (MCR) by determining the district's MCR under Education Code Section 48.2551 or 48.2552(b), as applicable, and reducing the rate by \$0.107 for the 2023-2024 school year. Provides that if the newly compressed tax rate is less than 90 percent of another school district's MCR then the district's MCR is the value at which the MCR would be equal to 90 percent of the other district's MCR. Creates a permanently compressed rate by providing that for purposes of determining a school district's MCR for the 2024-2025 school year, the value of the district's prior year maximum compressed rate (PYMCR) is the MCR as determined under this section.

Effective on the date of the official canvas showing adoption of HJR 2 (2nd CS), and contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Section 48.2556

SB 2 (2nd CS) amends subsection (a), relating to information the Texas Education Agency (TEA) is required to post on the agency's website to assist each appraisal district and assessor in making the calculations for the adjustment to the limitation on tax increases, to add references to Tax Code Sections 11.26(a-11) and (a-12).

Effective on the date of the official canvas showing adoption of HJR 2 (2nd CS), and contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

SB 2 (2nd CS) amends subsection (a), relating to information TEA is required to post on the agency's website to assist each appraisal district and assessor in making the calculations for the adjustment to the limitation on tax increases, to strike the requirement that TEA post each school district's tier one maintenance and operations tax rate for the 2018 tax year, strike references to repealed provisions, and update the reference to the adjustment calculation to Tax Code Section 11.26(a-10).

Effective Jan. 1, 2025, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Section 48.283

SB 2 (2nd CS) adds this section to provide additional state aid to school districts that received an adjustment under Education Code Section 48.257(b) for the 2022-2023 in an amount equal to the amount of that adjustment for the 2022-2023 school year less the difference between the amount to which the district is entitled for the current school year and the amount the district would be entitled to for the current year if the district's MCR had not been reduced under Education Code Section 48.2555.

Effective on the date of the official canvas showing adoption of HJR 2 (2nd CS) and contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Section 49.004

SB 2 (2nd CS) adds subsections (a-1), (b-1), and (c-1) to provide that the annual review of local revenues conducted by TEA be done using the revised property values that reflect the increased residence homestead exemption amount. Authorizes a school district with a local revenue level in excess of entitlement that has not previously held an election to reduce local revenue to request and receive approval from TEA to delay the date of the election otherwise required to be ordered before September 1. Provides that a school district that receives approval to delay an election may adopt a tax rate for the 2023 tax year before TEA certifies that the district has reduced its local revenue level to the appropriate level. These temporary provisions expire on Sept. 1, 2024.

Effective July 22, 2023, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Section 49.0042

SB 2 (**2nd CS**) adds this section as a transitional provision to require TEA to approve a district's request for a delayed election if TEA determines that the district would not have a local revenue level in excess of entitlement if the proposed constitutional amendment were approved by the voters. Requires TEA to set a date by which each district must order the election. Requires TEA to order detachment and annexation of property or the consolidation of districts to reduce a district's local revenue level to the appropriate level if the district fails to hold an election or does not receive voter approval at the election. This section expires Sept. 1, 2025.

Effective July 22, 2023, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Section 49.0121

SB 2 (2nd CS) adds this section to provide that Section 49.012, related to the date of elections to reduce a district's local revenue level, does not apply if the district receives approval to delay the election. Requires the district to hold the election on a Tuesday or Saturday on or before a date specified by TEA. This section applies only to an election that occurs during the 2023-2024 school year and expires on Sept. 1, 2024.

Effective July 22, 2023, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Section 49.154

SB 2 (2nd CS) adds subsection (a-2) and (a-3) to requires a school district that receives approval for a request to delay an election to reduce the district's local revenue level to pay for attendance credits purchased in equal monthly payments as determined by TEA beginning March 15, 2024, and ending Aug. 15, 2024 or in the manner provided by statute that the district notifies TEA of the district's election to pay in that manner not later than March 15, 2024. These subsections expire Sept. 1, 2024.

Effective July 22, 2023, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Section 49.308

SB 2 (2nd CS) adds subsection (a-1) to provide that, for the 2023-2024 school year, TEA is required to order any detachments and annexations of property as soon as practicable after the canvass of the votes on the constitutional amendment. This subsection expires Sept. 1, 2024.

Effective July 22, 2023, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Government Code

Section 403.0246

SB 1340 amends subsection (a)(2) by adding paragraph (C) to include a tax abatement agreement under Tax Code Chapter 312, in the definition of "local development agreement." Amends subsection (b) to require the current Tax Code

Chapters 380 and 381 Database maintained by the Comptroller be a consolidated searchable data tool renamed as the Local Development Agreement Database.

The bill amends subsection (c) to expand the information required to be maintained in the database to include:

- the contact information of any entity's agent that entered into the agreement, including the business address and any assumed names of the entity;
- the terms of the agreement;
- the agreement's total monetary value; and,
- the money source or type of tax implicated by the agreement, including a sales tax, property tax or hotel occupancy tax.

Adds subsection (h) to authorize the Comptroller to prescribe the form and manner in which a local government must submit the information required to be maintain in the database.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to an agreement made on or after the effective date.

Section 403.302

SB 2 (2nd CS) amends subsection (j-1) relating to the requirement that the comptroller separately identify the final taxable value for each school district as adjusted to account for the reduction of the amount of the limitation on tax increases to update the reference to Tax Code Section 11.26(a-10) and strike references to subsections that are repealed by the bill. Adds subsection (j-2) to require the comptroller to separately identify the final taxable value for each school district as adjusted to account for the reduction of the amount of the limitation on tax increases provided by Tax Code Sections 11.26(a-5), (a-6), (a-7), (a-8), (a-9), (a-10), (a-11), and (a-12); the subsection expires on Jan. 1, 2025.

Effective on the date of the official canvas showing adoption of HJR 2 (2nd CS), and contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

SB 2 (2nd CS) amends subsection (d) relating to the definition of taxable value for purposes of the School District Property Value Study to include an adjustment for property subject to the circuit breaker limitation under Tax Code Section 23.231. Amends subsection (i) to add references to value lost due to the circuit breaker limitation under Tax Code Section 23.231.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

SB 2 (2nd CS) amends subsections (d) and (i) to remove references to the circuit breaker limitation under Tax Code Section 23.231.

Effective Jan. 1, 2027, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Sections 403.601- 403.624, Subchapter T

HB 5 adds this subchapter "Texas Jobs, Energy, Technology, and Innovation Act" including these sections to authorize a limitation on taxable value of certain property to provide for the creation of jobs and encourage financially positive, large-scale economic development. Section 403.602 defines terms for the subchapter, including "eligible project" to mean a project to construct or expand a new or existing manufacturing facility; a facility related to the provision of utility services, including dispatchable electric generation; a facility related to the development of natural resources; a facility to engage in the research, development or manufacture of high-tech equipment or technology; or a project to construct or expand critical infrastructure. "Eligible project" does not include a project to construct or expand a new or existing nondispatchable electric generation facility or electric energy storage facility. The bill defines "eligible property" to mean a new building or expansion of an existing building constructed on or after the date of the agreement pertaining to the project and located in a reinvestment zone or enterprise zone, or tangible personal property other than inventory property, that is wholly owned by an applicant or leased by an applicant under a capitalized lease. Section 403.603 provides that the subchapter expires on Dec. 31, 2033.

Section 403.604 specifies the required number of jobs and level of investment for a project to be eligible to enter into an agreement to limit the taxable value of eligible property. A required job created in connection with an eligible project must be a new full-time job in this state and may not be transferred from an existing facility or location in this state or otherwise created to replace an existing job, unless the vacancy created by the transfer is filled. The required level of investment is determined by the appraised value of the eligible property composing the project on Jan. 1 of the second tax year of the incentive period. If the project is located in a county with a population of at least 750,000, the project must create 75 required jobs by the end of the first tax year

of the incentive period, demonstrate an average of at least that number of jobs during each following tax year until the agreement expires, and make an investment in the project of at least \$200 million by the end of the first tax year of the incentive period. If the project is located in a county with a population of at least 250,000 but less than 750,000, the project must create 50 required jobs by the end of the first tax year of the incentive period, demonstrate an average of at least that number of jobs during each following tax year until the agreement expires, and make an investment in the project of at least \$100 million by the end of the first tax year of the incentive period. If the project is located in a county with a population of at least 100,000 but less than 250,000, the project must create 35 required jobs by the end of the first tax year of the incentive period, demonstrate an average of at least that number of jobs during each following tax year until the agreement expires, and make an investment in the project of at least \$50 million by the end of the first tax year of the incentive period. If the project is located in a county with a population of less than 100,000, the project must create 10 required jobs by the end of the first tax year of the incentive period, demonstrate an average of at least that number of jobs during each following tax year until the agreement expires, and make an investment in the project of at least \$20 million by the end of the first tax year of the incentive period. Subsection (f) authorizes the Comptroller to adopt rules to interpret and administer this section.

Section 403.605 provides that the taxable value of eligible property for school district maintenance and operations taxes is zero in the tax year for the tax year following the year in which the agreement is made until Dec. 31 of the tax year that includes the construction completion date of the eligible project. In subsequent tax years, the taxable value for eligible property for school district maintenance and operations taxes is 50 percent of the market value of the property or, if the property is located in a qualified opportunity zone, 25 percent of the market value of the property for a given tax year. The bill requires the chief appraiser to determine the market value and appraised value of the property and include the market value, appraised value, and taxable value of the property in the appraisal records; the chief appraiser is prohibited from using the estimated value included in the application for the agreement to determine the market value of the property.

Section 403.607 requires an applicant to submit required information to the Comptroller on a form prescribed by the Comptroller. The application must include information on the

location of the project, a brief description of the proposed project, a disclosure of any grant or loan of public money that the applicant is receiving or expects to receive for the project, a description of the eligible property, a projected timeline for construction and completion, and the proposed incentive period. In addition, the application must identify the reinvestment zone, enterprise zone, or qualified opportunity zone, and summarize the economic benefits of the proposed project. The application must include a fee payable to the Comptroller for administrative costs, a fee payable to the school district not to exceed \$3,000, and a map of the site of the proposed project. Section 403.608 requires an applicant to submit an economic benefit statement with the application. The annual statement must contain detailed information about the project, including an estimate of the number of total jobs that will be created, an estimate of the total capital investment, an estimate of the increase in appraised value of property that will be attributable to the project, an estimate of the amount of ad valorem taxes that will be imposed by each taxing unit, an estimate of the amount of state taxes that will be paid in connection with the project, and an estimate of the associated economic benefits that may be reasonably attributable to the project, including the total impact of the project on state and local taxes. The bill requires the Comptroller to establish criteria for the methodology used to create the economic benefit statement and may require the applicant to supplement or modify the statement to ensure the accuracy of the estimates provided.

Section 403.609 requires the Comptroller to determine whether to recommend or not recommend the application for approval. The Comptroller is authorized the recommend an application for approval if the Comptroller finds that the proposed project:

- is an eligible project;
- is reasonably likely to generate an amount of state and local tax revenue, including property tax revenue, sufficient to offset the loss of school district maintenance and operations property tax revenue as a result of the agreement before the 20th anniversary of the first day of the construction period;
- is a compelling factor in a competitive site selection determination and that, in the absence of the agreement, the applicant would not make the proposed investment in this state; and,
- is located in a qualified opportunity zone if the application indicates the eligible project is located in the zone.

The Comptroller is required to provide a recommendation on the application no later than 60 days after the date the Comptroller determines the application is complete and provide written notice of the action to the governor, the school district in which the project is located, and the applicant.

Section 403.610 requires the Governor to consider the application and by official action determine whether the Governor is agreeable to entering into the agreement no later than 30 days after receiving the application and recommendation from the Comptroller. The Governor is required to provide written notice of the determination to the Comptroller, the applicable school district, the oversight committee, and the applicant no later than the seventh day after the determination is made. Section 403.611 requires the governing body of the school district to consider the application and by official action determine whether the district is agreeable to entering into the agreement no later than 30 days after receiving the application and recommendation from the Comptroller. The governing body of the school district is required to hold a public hearing on the application. The governing body must provide notice of the public hearing no later than 15 days before the date of the hearing. The notice must continue the name of the applicant, the name and location of the existing or proposed reinvestment zone or enterprise zone in which the eligible project is proposed to be located, a general description of the proposed project, and the projected investment the applicant will make in the project.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024; the Comptroller is required to adopt rules and develop and make available forms and materials as soon as practicable after Sept. 1, 2023.

Section 411.1296

HB 4123 amends the heading of this section to read "access to criminal history record information: employment by appraisal district, appointment to appraisal review board for appraisal district, and applicant to Texas Appraiser and Licensing and Certification Board." The bill amends subsection (a) to provide that the Texas Appraiser Licensing and Certification Board is entitled to obtain criminal history record information for an applicant for a license of certification as an appraiser trainee, licensed residential appraiser, certified residential appraiser, or certified general appraiser or for an appraisal management company regulated by the Texas Appraiser Licensing and Certification Board. The bill adds subsection (a-1) to provide that an appraisal district and the Texas Appraiser Licensing and Certification Board are

entitled to obtain criminal history record information maintained or indexed by the Federal Bureau of Investigation and obtain state criminal history record information maintained by the Department of Public Safety or any other criminal justice agency in this state. Adds subsection (d) to prohibit an appraisal district or the Texas Appraiser Licensing and Certification Board from releasing or disclosing criminal history record information obtained from the Federal Bureau of Investigation. The bill prohibits the release or disclosure of criminal history record information obtained from the Department of Public Safety or other criminal justice agency except on court order with written consent of the person who is the subject of the information. Adds subsection (e) to provide that an appraisal district or the Texas Appraiser Licensing and Certification Board may disclose criminal history record information obtained from the Department of Public Safety or other criminal justice agency in a criminal proceeding or in a hearing conducted by the entity. Adds subsection (f) to require criminal history record information be destroyed after the information is used for its authorized purpose.

Effective June 13, 2023, and applies on to an open meeting held on or after the effective date.

Section 551.056

HB 3440 amends subsection (b) to expand the types of governmental bodies required to post notice of a meeting on the entity's Internet website to include a district or authority authorized to lend credit or make grants under Section 52, Article III, Texas Constitution, and conservation and reclamation districts created under Section 59, Article XVI, Texas Constitution. In addition to posting the notice of a meeting, the agenda for the meeting must also be posted on the entity's Internet website. The bill repeals subsection (c), which required only certain sized entities to post the agenda for the meeting on the entity's Internet website.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023, and applies on to an open meeting held on or after the effective date.

Section 552.0031

HB 3033 adds this section to define a business day for purposes of a request made under the Public Information Act as a day other than Saturday or Sunday, or a national or state holiday under Government Code Section 662.003. The bill provides that an employee working from an alternative work site does not affect whether a day is considered a business day. An optional holiday is not considered a business day if

the public information officer observes the optional holiday. A Friday before or Monday after a national or state holiday is not a business day if the holiday occurs on a Saturday or Sunday and the governmental body observes the holiday on that Friday or Monday. The bill provides that a governmental body may designate a day on which administrative offices are closed as a nonbusiness day provided the designation is made by the board of trustees of a school district or the executive director or chief administrative officer of another governmental entity; a governmental body may not designate more than 10 days per year as nonbusiness days.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Section 552.012

HB 3033 adds subsection (b-1) to provide that the Attorney General may require a public official of a governmental body to complete open records training if the Attorney General determines that the governmental body failed to comply with a requirement of the Public Information Act. The Attorney General must notify each public official in writing of the determination and the requirement to complete the training course. A public official who is required to complete the training must do so not later than 60 days after the official receives the notice.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Section 552.103

HB 3033 adds subsection (d) to provide that the exception to disclosure for litigation or settlement negotiations involving the state or a political subdivision of the state does not apply if the information relates to a general, primary, or special election, the information is in the possession of a governmental body that administers elections, and the governmental body is not a board, commission, department, committee, institution, agency, or office that is within or is created by the executive or legislative branch of state government and that is directed by one or more elected or appointed members.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023, and applies only to a request made on or after the effective date.

Section 552.108

HB 3033 amends subsection (c) to require a governmental body to promptly release basic information responsive to a request for information about an arrested person, an arrest,

or a crime, unless the governing body seeks to withhold the information.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Section 552.163

HB 3033 adds this section to create an exception to disclosure of information related to Attorney General settlement communications regarding an investigation or litigation conducted under Subchapter E, Chapter 17, Business & Commerce Code (Deceptive Trade Practices and Consumer Protection).

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Sections 552.271 and 552.272

HB 3033 adds subsections (e) and (f), respectively, to provide that a requestor who has exceeded a monthly or yearly limit established by a governmental body related to the amount of time personnel are required to spend producing public information for inspection or duplication, or providing copies of public information to a requestor without recovering costs attributable to the personnel time, may not inspect public information on behalf of another requestor unless the requestor who exceeded the limit has paid each statement issued by the governmental body to recover costs of personnel time.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023, and applies only to a request made on or after the effective date.

Section 552.275

HB 3033 adds subsection (n) to authorize a governmental body to request photo identification from a requestor of public information for the purpose of establishing that the requestor has not concealed his or her identify and that the requestor has not exceeded a limit established by the governmental body related to the amount of time personnel are required to spend producing public information for inspection or duplication, or providing copies of public information to a requestor without recovering costs attributable to the personnel time. Adds subsection (o) to provide that governmental body must include a statement to the requestor that describes the specific reasons why the requestor may be required to provide photo identification. The governmental body is required to accept physical presentment of a photo identification or an image of the photo identification that is transmitted electronically or through the mail as proof of the requestor's identity. Allows a requestor to decline to provide identification and to obtain the requested information by paying the charge assessed in the statement. The bill makes conforming changes to subsections (b), (g), and (h) related to the request for photo identification.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023, and applies only to a request made on or after the effective date.

Section 552.3031

HB 3033 adds this section to require certain governmental bodies to submit a request for an Attorney General decision related to withholding information from being disclosed under the Public Information Act through the Attorney General's designed electronic filing system. This requirement does not apply:

- if the governmental body submitting the request has fewer than 16 full-time employees and is located in a county with a population of less than 150,000;
- the amount or format of responsive information at issue makes use of the electronic filing system impractical or impossible; or,
- The request is hand delivered to the Office of the Attorney General.

The bill authorizes the Attorney General to adopt rules necessary to implement the electronic filing system, including rules that define the amount or type of formatting of information that makes use of the electronic filing system impractical or impossible.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023, and applies only to a request made on or after the effective date.

Section 552.306

HB 3033 adds subsection (c) to require a governmental body to inform the requestor of the determination provided by the Attorney General and take action to provide the data, issue an estimate for the cost of producing the data, adhere to requirements to produce voluminous data, or notify the requestor that the information is being withheld as provided by the determination or that the governmental body has filed suit against the Attorney General to overturn the determination. The bill adds subsection (d) to provide that a governmental body is presumed to have complied with the notification requirements if the governing body takes an action regarding the information subject to the determination not more than 30 days after the determination is issued.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023, and applies only to a request made on or after the effective date.

Section 552.308

HB 3033 amends subsections (a) and (b) to make conforming changes related to Government Code Section 552.3031 as added by the bill.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Section 552.310

HB 3033 adds this section to require the Office of the Attorney General to create and maintain a searchable database containing information related to requests from governmental entities for a determination on whether the entity may withhold information requested under the Public Information Act. The database must include information identifying each request for a determination and the Attorney General's determination. The database must allow a person to search for a request by the name of the governmental entity making the request and the exception that a government entity asserts in the request. The database must allow a person to view the current status of a request and an estimated timeline indicating the date each stage of the request will be started and completed.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023. The Office of the Attorney General is required to make the database available no later than Jan. 1, 2024.

Section 2051.054

SB 943 adds this section to require a newspaper that publishes a notice for a governmental entity to, at no additional cost to the governmental entity, publish the notice on the newspaper's Internet website on one or more webpages that are clearly designated for notices and accessible to the public at no cost. The newspaper is required to deliver the notice to the Texas Press Association, which is required to post the notice on the association's Internet website if the association maintains an Internet website as a statewide repository of notices. The bill provides that the validity of the notice printed in the newspaper is not affected if there is an error in the notice published on the website or if publication of the notice on the website is temporarily prevented due to a technical issue with the website.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023, and applies only to notices published on or after the effective date.

Section 2054.603

SB 271 redesignates Government Code Section 2054.1125 as this section. Defines "security incident" to mean a breach or suspected breach of system security and the introduction of ransomware, as defined by Penal Code Section 33.023, into a computer, computer network, or computer system. Expands the applicability of this section to include a local government that owns, licenses, or maintains computerized data that includes sensitive personal information, confidential information, or information the disclosure of which is regulated by law. A local government that experiences a security incident is required to comply with notification requirements of Business & Commerce Code Section 521.053, notify the Department of Information Resources of the security incident within 48 hours after discovering the security incident or the Secretary of State if the security incident involves election data, and comply with Department of Information Resources rules related to reporting security incidents. Provides that this section does not apply to a security incident that a local government is required to report to an independent organization certified by the Public Utility Commission of Texas.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Labor Code

Chapter 104A

HB 915 adds this chapter related to reporting workplace violence to the Department of Public Safety (DPS). Requires each employer to post a notice to employees of the contact information for reporting instances of workplace violence or suspicious activity to the DPS. The notice must be posted in a conspicuous place, in sufficient locations to be convenient to all employees, in English and in Spanish, as appropriate. The Texas Workforce Commission (TWC), in consultation with DPS, is required prescribe the form and content of the notice by rule. The rules must require the notice to contain the contact information for reporting instances of workplace violence or suspicious activity to DPS and inform employees of the right to make a report to DPS anonymously.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Local Government Code

Section 21.031

SB 232 amends subsection (c) to provide that an appeal of a criminal conviction of an offense under newly created Local Government Code Section 180.010 does not supersede the individual's removal from office due to a criminal conviction.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023, and applies only to a conviction of a qualifying offense on or after the effective date.

Section 87.032

SB 232 amends this section to provide that an appeal of a criminal conviction of an offense under newly created Local Government Code Section 180.010 does not supersede the individual's removal from office due to a criminal conviction.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023, and applies only to a conviction of a qualifying offense on or after the effective date.

Section 180.010

SB 232 adds this section to provide for the automatic removal of a person holding an elected or appointed office of a political subdivision upon pleading guilty or nolo contendere to, receiving deferred adjudication for, or being convicted of, one of several qualifying offenses related to public corruption including: bribery; theft of public money; perjury; coercion of public servant or voter; tampering with government record; misuse of official information; abuse of official capacity; or, conspiracy or the attempt to commit any of the described offenses. The bill requires the governing body of a political subdivision to order an election if any election is required or fill the vacancy.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023, and applies only to an officer of a political subdivision who enters a plea of nolo contendere to or receives a deferred adjudication for or is convicted of, a qualifying offense, as that term is defined by that section, on or after the effective date.

Section 211.0166

HB 4057 adds this section to grant a property owner with property located in a municipality with a population of 2 million or more the right to exclude the property from a conservation district that is a local preservation district that preserves, maintains, and protects the physical elements of development and the community character and heritage of neighborhoods having distinctive characteristics and patterns

of development. The bill requires the property owner to file an acknowledged statement in the real property records of the county describing the property by reference to a map or plat of a subdivision and stating that the owner elects to have the property excluded from the district before the first anniversary of the date the property was included in the district. Property is not eligible to be excluded if the property is designated as a local historic landmark or located in a local historic district.

Effective June 10, 2023, and applies only to the inclusion of a property within the boundaries of a conservation district authorized by ordinance after the effective date.

Sections 212.201-212.213, Subchapter H

HB 1526 adds this subchapter, Multifamily, Hotel, and Motel Park Dedication: Municipalities with a Population of More than 800,000, to Local Government Code Chapter 212, Municipal Regulation of Subdivisions and Property Development. Section 212.201 provides definitions for various terms, including "affordable dwelling unit," "median family income," "multifamily unit," "parkland," and "parkland dedication." A "plan" means a subdivision development plan, subdivision plan, site plan, land development plan, and site development plan each proposing the development of multifamily, hotel, or motel units; commercial property is exempt from parkland dedication requirements.

Section 202.203 provides that the subchapter cannot be construed to prohibit a municipality from requiring by ordinance that a landowner dedicate a portion of their property for park use, impose a dedication fee, or both, for the development of single-family or two-family uses. Section 202.204 provides that a municipality has exclusive authority within its boundaries to require the dedication of parkland, impose a parkland dedication fee, or both. A municipality is prohibited from delegating this authority to another political subdivision and a municipality may only exercise its authority through a plan application as provided by this subchapter.

Section 212.205 authorizes a municipality to require a landowner to dedicate a portion of the landowner's property for parkland use, impose a parkland dedication fee, or both, under a plan application filed by paying a fee or dedicating a portion of land and paying a reduced fee. A municipality may allow a landowner to elect a parkland dedication, a parkland dedication fee, or both. Section 212.206 authorizes a landowner to make a written request to a municipality that the municipality make a timely determination on the dedication amount the municipality will impose under the parkland dedication requirements. A municipality is required to respond in writing to the request not later than 30 days after the date the request is received; failure to respond to the request prohibits the municipality from requiring a parkland dedication as a condition of approval of the proposed plan or application. A determination issued by a municipality is legally binding and applicable to the property for a period of the less of two years or the time between the date the determination is issued and the date a plan application is filed that uses or relies on the determination. Section 212.208 provides that a municipality may not require a landowner to dedicate more than 10 percent of the gross site area of the land subject to a plan application.

Section 212.209 requires a municipality to hold a public hearing and, by official action, designate all territory within the municipality as a suburban area, urban, area, or central business district area. Not later than the 10th day after the designation of territory, the municipality is required to notify the appraisal district in which the municipality is wholly or partly located. Once every 10 years, each appraisal district is required to calculate the average land value for each area. If multiple appraisal districts calculate an average land value for different portions of a designated area, the area's total average land value is determined by multiplying each district's calculated value for the portion located in the district by the percentage that the portion is to the total area and add the resulting amounts. In each year in which the appraisal district does not calculate average land values for each designated area, the average land value is calculated by multiplying the previous year's average land value by one plus the average consumer price index for each month of the previous year. A municipality is required to set the dwelling unit factor, which reflects the number of parkland acres for each dwelling unit proposed by the plan application. The factor may not be more than .005 for multifamily units and .004 for rooms in a hotel or motel ordinarily used for sleeping. A municipality is required to set the density factor, which reflects the diminishing expectation of parkland acres per dwelling unit in increasingly dense urban environments for each designated area. The density factor may not be less than one for suburban areas, four for urban areas, and 40 for the central business district area.

Sections 212.210 and 212.211 detail the calculations for parkland dedication fees based on the number of multifamily units, excluding affordable dwelling units, or hotel and motel rooms ordinarily used for sleeping, the average land value for the area, and applicable density factors, or, for a municipality with low fees based on a percentage of median family income, based on the land value and the number of acres dedicated. If the calculation of the fee for property that is both dedicating land and paying a parkland dedication fee is less than zero, the property owner is entitled to receive from the municipality the positive difference between the calculated amount and zero. The municipality is required to pay that amount to the landowner at the time of transfer of fee simple title or the recording of the easement.

Section 212.212 requires a municipality to provide a landowner with a written determination of fees owed before approving a plan application and may only collect a fee authorized as precondition to the issuance of a final certificate of occupancy. Section 212.213 authorizes a landowner to appeal a determination made by a municipality regarding any element of a parkland dedication requirement, including amount, orientation, or suitability. The appeal must include a requested adjudication of the issue in controversy; the governing body of the municipality may uphold, reverse, or modify a parkland dedication requirement as applied to the landowner making the appeal. A determination on an appeal must be made not later than 60 days after the date the appeal is filed. Failure to act on the appeal results in the appeal being resolved in favor of the landowner's requested adjudication.

Effective June 10, 2023, and applies only to a plan application filed on or after Jan. 1, 2024. Each appraisal district is required to calculate the average land value as provided by this Act not later than Jan. 1, 2024.

Section 232.0315

SB 59 amends subsections (a) and (b) to expand the types of taxing units, from certain counties located near an international border to all political subdivisions located in such counties, that are required to provide notice of water and wastewater requirements for real property intended for residential use when selling property at a tax foreclosure sale or property taken by writ of execution.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023, and applies only to notice given on or after the effective date.

Section 375.022

HB 2815 adds subsection (d) to provide that a petition for the creation of a municipal management district may request that the board of directors of the district be elected rather than being appointed by the governing body of the municipality with input from the owners of a majority of the assessed value of property subject to assessment by the district. Adds subsection (e) to require the Texas Commission on Environmental Qualify to issue a notice indicating that the petition is administratively complete. The Commission may conduct a public hearing regarding the petition if deemed necessary.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Sections 375.023 and 375.024

HB 2815 repeals these sections. Section 375.023 relates to the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality hearing and notice of a hearing to consider each petition received by the Commission for the creation of a municipal management district. Section 375.024 relates to the publication and delivery of such notice.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 375.025

HB 2815 amends this section to make conforming changes related to the election of the board of directors of a municipal management district. The bill repeals subsection (a) related to the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality hearing on a petition under Local Government Code Section 375.023, which is also repealed. The bill repeals subsection (b) related to the Commission's jurisdiction to determine each issue relating to the sufficiency of the petition and to the creation of the district and ability to issue necessary incidental orders.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Sections 375.065, 375.067, and 375.068

HB 2815 amends these sections to make conforming changes related to the election of the board of directors of a municipal management district.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 375.0645

HB 2815 adds this section related to the election of the board of directors of a municipal management district if the petition creating the district included a request for elected board members. Requires the Texas Commission on Environmental

Quality to appoint the initial directors; subsequent directors are elected in the manner provided by Subchapter D, Chapter 49, Water Code. Provides that an elected director is entitled to receive fees of office as provided by Water Code Section 49.060 and reimbursement for actual expense. Certain provisions of the Chapter 375, Local Government Code, relating to board compensation, succession, the requirement to receive a petition signed by the owners of a majority of the assessed value of the property subject to the assessment or tax to authorize a bond election, and the prohibition on imposing an impact fee, assessment, tax, or other requirement for payment, construction, alteration, or dedication on single-family detached residential property, duplexes, triplexes, and fourplexes unless authorized or approved by the voters of the district, do not apply to an elected board of directors.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 375.071

HB 2815 amends this section related to what constitutes a quorum of the board of directors of a municipal management district to redesignate a portion of subsection (a) as subsection (b) and to provide that if at least two-thirds of the directors executes a written consent at any time, a majority of a quorum at a board meeting may authorize the levy of assessments, the levy of taxes, the imposition of impact fees, or the issuance of bonds. A director may execute a written consent outside of a board meeting.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 375.161

HB 2815 amends subsection (b) to provide that a tax or assessment is allowed on single-family detached residential property, duplexes, triplexes, and fourplexes if authorized or approved by the voters of the municipal management district.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 375.208

HB 2815 amends this section to provide that a municipal management district must obtain approval from the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality to issue bonds only if the bonds are to provide water, sewage, or drainage facilities. The bill strikes provisions related to a municipal management district not being subject to the jurisdiction of the Commission except as provided by Local Government Code Section 375.062, as it relates to the appointment of the board

of directors, and Local Government Code Section 375.064, as it relates to the succession of the board of directors.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Occupations Code

Section 51.002

HB 3743 reenacts this section to provide that the Texas Commission on Licensing and Regulation and the Texas Department of Licensing and Regulation (TDLR) are subject to the Texas Sunset Act. Unless continued in existence, the commission and the department are abolished on Sept. 1, 2033.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Section 51.207

HB 3743 amends subsection (c) to authorize the Texas Commission on Licensing and Regulation by rule to require an applicant, license holder, or other person who regularly receives correspondence from the department to provide an email address to the department for purposes of receiving correspondence.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Section 51.209

HB 3743 adds subsection (d) to provide that Government Code Chapter 2110, related to state agency advisory committees, does not apply to an advisory board established to advise the Texas Commission on Licensing and Regulation or TDLR.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023

Section 51.4014

HB 3743 adds this section to authorize TDLR to accept an application from a person who is an inmate imprisoned in the Texas Department of Criminal Justice but may not issue a license until the applicant has been released. TDLR's ability to determine or verify the applicant's eligibility for the license or to issues a provisional or restricted license is not limited by this section.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023

Chapter 60

HB 2453 adds this chapter to authorize a licensing authority that issues occupational licenses, including a license, certificate, registration, permit, or other form of authorization required to be obtained by an individual to engage in a particular business, occupation, or profession, to issue the occupational license in a digital format. The digital license must be in a secure format and readily accessible by the license holder through an Internet website and on a wireless communication device. The public must be able to view a license holder's digital license through an Internet website or by using a QR code as defined by Health and Safety Code Section 443.001. If the licensing authority contracts with a vendor for the issuance of a digital license, the digital license must be in a format in which the vendor and authority can verity the validity of the license.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Section 1103.003

SB 1577 amends subdivision (6) by replacing the commissioner of the Texas Appraiser Licensing and Certification Board with an executive director, and makes conforming changes necessary throughout Occupations Code Chapter 1103.

Effective Jan. 1, 2024, and applies only to a license renewal on or after the effective date.

Section 1103.004

SB 1222 amends subsection (a) to exempt a person who performs appraisals in connection with the Practical Applications of Real Estate Appraisal course as approved by the Appraiser Qualifications Board and who does not use a title "certified real estate appraiser" or "licensed real estate appraiser" or refer to an appraisal performed by the person as a "certified appraisal" or "licensed appraisal" from the Texas Appraiser Licensing and Certification Act. Adds subsection (b) to provide that appraisals performed by an exempt individual previously described may be credited toward satisfying the experience required to obtain a license or certificate.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Section 1103.205

SB 1222 repeals subsection (b) which requires an applicant for a certificate or license to provide an affidavit on a form prescribed by the Texas Appraiser Licensing and Certification

Board stating that the applicant has the required number of hours of experience in performing appraisals as recognized by the Appraiser Qualifications Board. Amends subsection (c) by removing experience as a real estate mortgage lending officer of a financial institution, or a real estate broker that includes the actual performance of technical review of real estate appraisers, from the experience required when determining qualified applicants.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023, and applies only to an application for a certificate or license made on or after the effective date.

Section 1103.259

SB 1222 repeals this section, which requires the Texas Appraiser Licensing and Certification Board to publish guidelines and study guides.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Section 1103.554

SB 1222 amends subsection (a) by removing language providing that a person commits an offense if they knowingly provide false information in connection with an affidavit filed under Occupation Code Section 1103.205 (Fulfillment of Experience Requirements).

Effective Sept. 1, 2023, and applies only to an offense committed on or after the effective date.

Section 1104.2051

SB 1222 adds this section authorizing the Texas Appraiser Licensing and Certification Board to appoint an investigative committee of at least two members, the presiding officer of which much be a board member. An investigative committee is required to review and determine the facts of a complaint submitted to the Texas Appraiser Licensing and Certification Board and timely submit a written report regarding the complaint to the board.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023, and applies only to a complaint submitted or offense committed submitted on or after the effective date.

Section 1201.1025

HB 2706 adds subsection (a-1) to provide that a person is exempt from holding a manufactured housing retailer's license if all manufactured homes sold or offered for sale by the person are located in a manufactured home community as defined by Property Code Section 94.001, and sold or offered

for sale to the same purchaser in connection with a sale of the real property of the community. Amends subsection (c) to specify that a person exempt from licensing requirements is subject to department rules regarding the sale or transfer of manufactured homes.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Section 1201.201

HB 2706 amends subdivision (5) to redefine "inventory" for purposes of manufactured housing inventory to have the meaning assigned by Business & Commerce Code, Section 9.102, which means goods, other than farm products, that are:

- leased by a person as lessor;
- held by a person for sale or lease or to be furnished under a contract of service;
- furnished by a person under a contract of service; or,
- consist of raw materials, work in process, or materials used or consumed in a business.

For purposes of manufactured housing inventory, the term does not include manufactured homes used by a retailer as equipment as defined by Business & Commerce Code, Section 9.102(a)(33), which means goods other than inventory, farm products, or consumer goods.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Section 1201.219

HB 2706 amends subsection (a) to provide that a lien on manufactured homes in inventory is perfected only by filing a financing statement in accordance with Business & Commerce Code Section 9.310, and the other provisions of that code related to security interests for inventory, rather than filing the lien with the department on the required form. The bill makes a conforming change to subsection (c) related to the filing of a financing statement to perfect a lien.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Property Code

Section 41.0022

HB 207 adds this section to provide that the conveyance of a parcel that does not meet the definition of an urban homestead under Property Code Section 41.002(a) or (c) by an individual to an entity in which the individual or individual's spouse has a

direct or indirect ownership interest is not a sham or pretended sale under Section 50(c), Article XVI, Texas Constitution if the deed conveying the parcel is recorded at least 30 days before the entity grants a mortgage, trust deed, or other lien on the parcel, the individual does not reside on the parcel at the time of conveyance, the parcel is not contiguous to the parcel on which the individual resides, the deed conveying the parcel does not contain a condition of defeasance, and the individual files an affidavit with the deed. The affidavit must contain the following information:

- a title caption stating "Affidavit Regarding Conveyance to an Entity;"
- the date of the affidavit;
- a description of the deed, including the title of the deed, the date of the deed, the name and address of the grantor, and the name and address of the grantee;
- a description of the parcel being conveyed to the entity;
- a description of the parcel upon which the individual currently resides;
- a statement that the parcel being conveyed is not contiguous to the parcel on which the individual currently resides;
- a statement that the parcel upon which the individual currently resides is not an urban homestead;
- a statement that the individual is unmarried or married and include the name of the individual's spouse;
- a statement that the individual or individual's spouse owns a direct or indirect interest in the entity;
- a statement that the individual has executed the deed conveying the parcel to the entity;
- a statement that the individual intends to vest title in the entity;
- a statement that there are no written or oral agreements regarding a defeasance of the parcel;
- a statement that the individual acknowledges that the individual will be estopped from claiming the conveyance to the entity is a sham or pretended sale;
- a statement that the individual acknowledges that the individual will be estopped from claiming the individual had not abandoned homestead rights, if any, in the parcel by executing the deed;
- a statement that the induvial understand that if the parcel is valued for ad valorem tax purposes as qualified open-space land, the entity must reapply in its own name by the application deadline; and,

 a statement that the individual has had an opportunity to review the affidavit prior to its execution and consult with an attorney.

The bill provides that if the individual is married, the individual's spouse must join in the execution of the deed and the affidavit. The entity or a lender for value may conclusively rely on the affidavit filed with the deed. A transaction that does not meet the requirements of this section is not invalid if the homestead has been abandoned or disclaimed as provided by law.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Section 51.002

SB 62 amends subsection (f-1) to require a county to prominently post notice of the sale of real property under a contract lien on the county's Internet website where the county posts other auction information and include the date, time, and location of the sale.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Special District Local Laws Code

Section 3919.205

HB 2815 and **HB 2816** amend subsection (d) to require the Old Celina Municipal Management District No. 1 to generate and implement a program to provide notice modeled after the notice described by Water Code Section 49.4521, regarding the existence of a special taxing unit or assessment district, to prospective purchasers of property within the district.

Effective June 18, 2023 (HB 2815).

Effective Sept. 1, 2023 (HB 2816).

Water Code

Section 49.011

HB 2815 amends subsection (a) to add Local Government Code Chapter 375, to the requirement that the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality issue a notice that the application for the creation of a municipal management district is administratively complete.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 49.060

HB 2815 amends subsection (a) to strike the limitation on the fee of office of a member of the board of directors of not more than \$150 for each day the director spends performing the duties of a director. Provides that the board by resolution is required to set the fees of office. The board is prohibited from setting the fees of office in an amount greater than the amount of the per diem set by the Texas Ethics Commission for members of the Legislature. Adds subsection (a-1) to authorize an authority created by special law to set the annual limit on the fees of office at an amount greater than the amount a director would receive for 60 days of service a year at the maximum daily rate authorized by subsection (a).

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 49.063

HB 2815 adds subsection (d) to authorize a water district that is required by law to post notice of a meeting on an Internet website to instead provide the notice to the county clerk for each county in which the district is located to post the notice on the county clerk's or the county's Internet website. Adds subsection (e) to provide that failure to timely or properly post a notice of a meeting on an Internet website does not prohibit the district from conducting the meeting if the notice required by Government Code Section 551.054(a)(1), related to the notice by a water district that extends into fewer than four counties being posted at a place convenient to the public in the administrative office of the district, is posted timely and properly.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 49.060

HB 2815 amends subsection (a) to strike the limitation on the fee of office of a member of the board of directors of not more than \$150 for each day the director spends performing the duties of a director. Provides that the board by resolution is required to set the fees of office. The board is prohibited from setting the fees of office in an amount greater than the amount of the per diem set by the Texas Ethics Commission for members of the Legislature. Adds subsection (a-1) to authorize an authority created by special law to set the annual limit on the fees of office at an amount greater than the amount a director would receive for 60 days of service a year at the maximum daily rate authorized by subsection (a).

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 49.065

HB 2815 adds subsection (d) to provide that the personal e-mail address of a member of the board of directors of a water district is subject to the Public Information Act if the district does not make an official e-mail address available to the public. Defines "personal e-mail address" to mean an e-mail address that is not paid for by the district and is not used primarily for the transaction of official business of the district.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 49.102

HB 2815 amends subsection (j) to provide that the provisions of this section requiring a confirmation election for the creation of the district, rather than the entirety of the section, do not apply to a district exercising power under Local Government Code Chapter 375, or any district created by a special act of the Legislature that does not require a confirmation election. Adds subsection (k) to authorize the board of directors to hold a confirmation election if the board determines that an election is in the best interest of the voters of the district. Adds subsection (l) to provide that Local Government Code Section 43.075, , related to the abolition of or division of functions of water-related special districts, does not apply to a district until the board declares the district is created as provided by subsection (e) of this section.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 49.106

HB 2815 amends subsection (e) to strike the provision that the water district's authorization to issue bonds is dissolved if the district is annexed by another district. Adds subsection (f) to provide that the board of directors of a water district may submit new bond authorization and refunding bond authorization in a single proposition at an election.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 49.181

HB 2815 adds subsection (f-1) to require the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality, when evaluating the financial feasibility of a project financed by a bond, to consider a district located wholly or partly in Austin, Brazos, Chambers, Grimes, Liberty, Walker, or Wharton counties as if the district were located in Harris County and a district located

wholly or partly in Bastrop, Bell, Burnet, Caldwell, Gillespie, Kendall, Lee, or Milam counties as if the district were located in Travis County.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 49.23602

HB 2815 amends subsection (c) to provide that a developed district is not required to have an election to approve a tax rate that is higher than the district's mandatory tax election rate if the adopted tax rate is less than or equal to the voter-approval tax rate.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 49.271

HB 2815 adds subsection (f) to provide that the provisions of the section apply to a contract for construction work entered into by a third party on behalf of a district. Amends subsection (e) to make conforming changes related to third-party contracts.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 49.316

HB 2815 adds this section to authorize the board of directors of the district to adopt an order to divide the district on a motion of the board or on receipt of a petition signed by the owner or owns of a majority of the assessed value of real property in the district. An order dividing a district may create one or more new districts and may provide for the continuation of the district. Requires an order dividing the district to include the name of the new district, the metes and bounds description of the new district, the appointment of temporary directors for the new district, and provide for the division of assets and liabilities between the districts. The bill provides that the board of directors may adopt an order dividing the district before or after the date the board holds an election to confirm the creation of the district. A district may only be divided if the district has never issued any bonds and is not imposing property tax. A new district created by the division of a district may not include any land outside the area of the original district. The district is required to file the order dividing the district with the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality and record the order in the real property records of the county not later than 30 days after the order dividing the district is adopted.

The new district created by division is required to hold an election to confirm the creation of the new district. The district is required to file the election results with the Commission if the district's creation is confirmed. The new district is required to hold an election to obtain voter approval before the district may impose maintenance tax or issue bonds payable wholly or partly from property tax. Municipal consent to the creation of the district acts as municipal consent to the creation of any new district by division.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 49.452

HB 2815 and HB 2816 amend subsection (a) to define "district" for purposes of this section to mean a municipal management district under Local Government Code Chapter 375, or a district created under General Law Districts Title 4, or by a special act of the Legislature that meets certain criteria. Adds subsection (a-1) to provide that a person who proposes to sell or convey real property located in a district must give the purchaser written notice regarding the property's location within a special taxing district as provided by this section and Water Code Section 49.4521. Redesignates subdivision (a)(2) as subsection (a-2) and adds that the provisions of this section are not applicable to transfers of title for the purpose of qualifying a director.

Effective June 18, 2023 (HB 2815).

Effective Sept. 1, 2023 (HB 2816).

Section 49.452

HB 2815 and HB 2816 repeal subsection (b) related to notice for water districts located wholly or partly in extraterritorial jurisdictions (ETJs) of one or more home-rule municipalities. Repeal subsection (c) relating to the required notice for water districts located wholly or partly within the corporate boundaries of municipality. Repeal subsection (d) relating to notice for water districts not located wholly or partly in corporate boundaries of a municipality or ETJ of home rule municipalities. Repeal subsection (e) stating that if a law relating to annexation or dissolution of a water district is amended and causes inaccuracies in the content of notices, the district must revise the content of the notices to accurately reflect the law.

Effective June 18, 2023 (HB 2815).

Effective Sept. 1, 2023 (HB 2816).

Section 49.4521

HB 2815 and HB 2816 add this section to prescribe the content of the notice required under Water Code Section 49.452. The notice must include a title caption in at least 24-point bold font stating "NOTICE TO PURCHASER OF SPECIAL TAXING OR ASSESSMENT DISTRICT" and a series of statements applicable to the district regarding the ability of the district to impose taxes and issue bonds, the current property tax rate for the district, the rate of the district assessment, the total amounts of bonds payable wholly or partly from property tax or assessments including the amount of fees imposed to provide various services, the aggregate initial principal amounts of all bonds issues, the ability of the district to impose a standby fee and the personal liability of a standby fee, and whether the district is located in a municipality or extraterritorial jurisdiction, whether the district has entered into a strategic partnership with a municipality to provide certain services, the purpose of the district and the services the district provides, and a statement and signature line for the purchaser to acknowledge receipt of the notice at or before the execution of the binding contract for the purchase of the real property or at closing of the purchase.

Effective June 18, 2023 (HB 2815).

Effective Sept. 1, 2023 (HB 2816).

Section 49.453

HB 2815 and **HB 2816** add subsection (e) to require a water district that must maintain an Internet website post or create a process for posting the water district's notice to purchasers of property within the district.

Effective June 18, 2023 (HB 2815).

Effective Sept. 1, 2023 (HB 2816).

Section 49.455

HB 2815 and **HB 2816** amend subsection (c) to remove language that requires a map or plat to be signed by a majority of the members of the board and be filed with the county clerk.

Effective June 18, 2023 (HB 2815).

Effective Sept. 1, 2023 (HB 2816).

Section 49.455

HB 2815 and HB 2816 repeal subsection (f), related to requiring a person who affirms the correction and accuracy of

an informational form, map or plat that includes information that is inaccurate or correct to be guilty of a misdemeanor and applicable fines, and subsection (h), related to water district members willfully failing to file necessary informational forms, maps or plats or amendments thereto are guilty of a misdemeanor and applicable fines.

Effective June 18, 2023 (HB 2815).

Effective Sept. 1, 2023 (HB 2816).

Section 49.4645

SB 938 amends subsection (a) by adding reclamation and conservation districts, all, or part of which are located in El Paso County, to the list of counties authorized to issues bonds supported by property taxes to pay for the development and maintenance of recreational facilities if voted on for that purpose.

Effective Nov. 7, 2023, contingent on voter approval of SJR 32.

Section 51.7131

HB 2815 adds this section to authorize a water control and improvement district to substitute land within the district in the same manner as a municipal utility district under Water Code Sections 54.739 to 54.747.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 53.029

HB 2815 amends subsection (e) to add that a fresh water supply district that has adopted the rights, authority, privileges, and functions of a road district may reimburse expenditures for an approved construction contract at a price not to exceed the replacement cost of the road or road improvements without any additional approval or determination by the commissioner's court of the county in which the district is located.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 54.030

HB 2815 repeals subsection (b) as added by Chapter 539, Acts of the 86th Legislature, Regular Session, 2019, relating to the requirement for the governing body of certain special purpose water districts to adopt a resolution declaring that conversion into a municipal utility district would serve the best interests of the district and would benefit the land and property included in the district.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 54.032

HB 2815 repeals subsection (a) as added by Chapter 539, Acts of the 86th Legislature, Regular Session, 2019, which duplicates the requirement to give notice of conversion of certain special purpose water districts into a municipal utility district by publishing notice in a newspaper with general circulation in the county or counties in which the district is located.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 54.033

HB 2815 repeals subsection (a) as added by Chapter 539, Acts of the 86th Legislature, Regular Session, 2019, which duplicates the provision related to the Texas Commission on Environmental Quality's order regarding the conversion of certain special purpose water districts into a municipal utility district.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 54.103

HB 2815 repeals this section related to prohibiting the board of directors of a municipal utility district from filling a vacancy on the board by appointing a person who resigned from the board in the two years preceding the date of the vacancy or on or after the vacancy date but before the vacancy is filled or a person who was defeated in a directors election held by the district in the two years preceding the vacancy date.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 54.234

HB 2815 amends subsection (d) to provide that a municipal utility district may undertake a road project if the municipality or county with platting jurisdiction, rather than one that will operate and maintain the road, has approved the plans and specifications for the road project. Amends subsection (e) to add "notwithstanding any other law" a municipal utility district is not required to obtain approval from the Texas Transportation Commission to acquire, construct, convey, or finance the road project except if the state is to operate and maintain the road.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 54.728

HB 2815 amends this section to redesignate a portion of this section as subsection (a) and adds subsection (b) to provide that one or more municipal utility districts and one or more municipal management districts may consolidate into one district. The consolidation mush be by agreement and may provide for the consolidated district to continue operating with the powers, authorities, duties, responsibilities, and board of directors of one of the original districts. After the initial election of directors, a consolidated district is governed as agreed by either an elected board of directors, who must be elected in the manner provided for under Section 49.103 for water districts, or an appointed board of directors, who must be appointed in the manner provided for under Local Government Code Chapter 375, relating to municipal management districts. Consolidation may also occur as provided by Water Code Sections 54.729 to 54.733, relating to municipal utility districts.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 57.053

HB 2815 amends subsection (a) to redesignate a portion of that subsection as subsection (b), providing that a director appointed to fill a vacancy on the board of directors of a levee improvement district must be a person qualified to serve as director under Water Code Section 57.059.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 57.059

HB 2815 amends this section to provide that to be eligible to serve on the board of directors of a levee improvement district a person must be at least 18 years of age, own land subject to taxation in the district or be a qualified voter in the district, and if the director is elected, be a qualified voter of the precinct in the district established by the commissioner's court from which the director is elected.

Effective June 18, 2023.

Section 60.038

SB 818 amends subsections (a), (b) and (c) and adds subsections (e), (f) and (g) to authorize a navigation district to exchange real property or any interest in real property owned by the district, regardless of the manner of acquisition, and authorizes the district to impose restrictions on the development, use, and transfer of any real property or interest in real

property in connection with its sale or exchange. The bill authorizes a navigation district to donate, exchange, convey, sell, or lease land, improvements, easements, or any other interests in real property to an electric utility or a telecommunications utility to promote a public purpose related to the development of the district. Property that is transferred to an electric utility or telecommunications utility may be done for less than its fair market value and without complying with certain notice and bidding requirements. The bill allows certain narrow strips of real property or larger properties that have been subject to encroachments by abutting real property owners for more than 25 years to be abandoned, released, exchanged, or transferred to the abutting owners under appropriate terms set by the district; such a conveyance may be done for less than its fair market value and without complying with certain notice and bidding requirements.

Effective May 19, 2023.

Session Law

General Appropriations Act

HB 1 requires the Comptroller to conduct a study out of appropriated funds to determine the amount of property tax revenue that each county containing a United States military installation, each county adjacent to a county containing a United States military installation, and each municipality located in either type of those counties lost for the 2023 property tax year as the result of the granting of the property tax exemption required by Tax Code Section 11.131, for 100 percent disabled veterans. The revenue loss would be calculated by multiplying the property tax rate adopted by the county of municipality, as applicable, for the 2023 property tax year by the total appraised value of all property located in the county or municipality, as applicable, that was granted the exemption for that tax year.

The bill requires the Comptroller to prepare a report that states the amount of property tax revenue that was lost by:

- · each municipality listed by name;
- each county listed by name; and,
- all municipalities and counties in this state in the aggregate.

The bill requires the Comptroller not later than Dec. 1, 2024, to submit the report to the Speaker of the House of

Representatives, the Lieutenant Governor, and each member of the Legislature.

Effective Sept. 1, 2023.

Property Tax Relief Act, Article 5.13

SB 2 (2nd CS) requires appraisal district directors to be elected beginning with the election conducted on the uniform election date in May 2024. The directors elected at that time, take office on July 1, 2024, and serve a term that expires on Dec. 31, 2026. After the initial election, directors are elected as provided by Tax Code Section 6.0301, beginning with the general election conducted in November 2026. Directors elected at that time take office on Jan. 1, 2027.

At the first meeting of the board that occurs after the November 2026 general election, the three elected directors are required to draw lots to determine which two directors will serve a four-year term and which director will serve a two-year term. Directors will then be elected to serve four-year terms.

The term of an appraisal district director serving on Dec. 31, 2024, in a county with a population of 75,000 or more expires on Jan. 1, 2025. Taxing units participating in the appraisal district that are entitled to appoint directors are required to appoint five directors by Dec. 31, 2024, to serve terms beginning Jan. 1, 2025. Two directors will be appointed to serve one-year terms and three directors will be appointed to serve three-year terms. After the initial terms have expires, appointed directors will serve four-year terms.

Effective Oct. 12, 2023, contingent on voter approval of HJR 2 (2nd CS).

Texas Constitution

Article VIII, Section 1

HJR 2 (2nd CS) adds subsection (n) to authorize the Legislature by general law to limit the maximum appraised value of real property, other than residence homestead property, to the lesser of the most recent market value of the property as determined by the appraisal district or 120 percent, or a greater percentage, of the appraised value of the property for the preceding tax year. The Legislature may prescribe additional eligibility requirements for the limitation on appraised values. The limitation takes effect as to a parcel of real property on the later of the effective date of the law imposing the

limitation or January 1 of the tax year following the first tax year in which the owner owns the property on Jan. 1 and expires on Jan. 1 of the tax year following the tax year in which the owner of the property ceases to own the property. Adds subsection (n-1) to provide that the limitation on appraised value expires on Dec. 31, 2026.

Article VIII, Section 1-b

HJR 2 (2nd CS) amends subsection (c) to increase the mandatory homestead exemption for school district property taxes from \$40,000 to \$100,000. Adds a temporary provision to the Constitution, which expires on Jan. 1, 2025, specifying that the amendment to subsection (c) takes effect Jan. 1, 2023, and applies only to a tax year beginning on or after that date. Amends subsection (d) to authorize the Legislature by general law to reduce the limitation on school district property taxes on the residence homesteads of 65 and older or disabled individuals to reflect the most recent increase in the residence homestead exemption from \$25,000 to \$40,000.

This amendment will be put before the voters at an election to be held Nov. 7, 2023.

Article VIII, Section 1-r

SJR 64 adds this section to authorize the governing body of a county of municipality to provide an exemption from property taxation all or part of the appraised value of real property used to operate a child-care facility. Provides that the value of the exemption as a percentage of the appraised value may not be less than 50 percent. The bill authorizes the Legislature by general law to define "child-care facility" for purposes of the exemption.

This amendment will be put before the voters at an election to be held Nov. 7, 2023.

Article VIII, Section 1-x

SJR 87 adds this section to authorize the Legislature by general law to provide an exemption from property taxation the tangible personal property held by a manufacturer of medical or biomedical products as a finished good or used in the manufacturing or processing of medical or biomedical products.

This amendment will be put before the voters at an election to be held Nov. 7, 2023.

Article VIII, Section 22

HJR 2 (2nd CS) adds subsection (a-1) to provide that appropriations from state revenues not dedicated by the Constitution that are made for the purpose of paying for property tax relief as identified by the Legislature by general law are not included as appropriations for purposes of determining whether the rate or growth of appropriations exceeds the constitutional limitation provided by this section. Adds a temporary provision to the constitution, which expires on Jan. 1, 2025, specifying that the amendment to this section applies to appropriations made for the state fiscal biennium beginning Sept. 1, 2023, and subsequent state fiscal biennia.

This amendment will be put before the voters at an election to be held Nov. 7, 2023.

Article XVI, Section 30

HJR 2 (2nd CS) adds subsection (e) to authorize the Legislature by general law to provide that members of the governing body of an appraisal district established in a county with a population of 75,000 or more serve terms not to exceed four years.

This amendment will be put before the voters at an election to be held Nov. 7, 2023.

Article XVI, Section 59

SJR 32 amends subsection (c-1) to authorize conservation and reclamation districts located in El Paso County to issue bonds supported by property taxes to pay for the development and maintenance of recreational facilities if voted on for that purpose.

For more information, visit our website: comptroller.texas.gov/taxes/property-tax

In compliance with the Americans with Disabilities Act, this document may be requested in alternative formats by calling toll free 800-252-5555.



Sign up to receive email updates on the Comptroller topics of your choice at comptroller.texas.gov/subscribe/.

Texas Comptroller of Public Accounts Publication #96-669 July 2023